
“Our mission is to maintain the character of our “small town” community while striking an appropriate balance between 
economic development and preservation of our quality of life. We help create a dynamic and vital City by providing quality, 

cost-effective municipal services and by forming partnerships with residents and organizations in the constant pursuit of 
excellence.” 

Page Item STANDING AGENDA ITEMS 

1. Call to Order and Flag Salute

2. Roll call

3. Special Presentations & Announcements:  D&S Canine Solutions – Dan Bell, Certified Trainer

4. Public Comment:
Welcome to our City Council meeting. The Council invites the public to address the Council on matters on the 

Consent Agenda and matters not listed on the agenda that are within the Council’s subject matter jurisdiction. 
If the Public wishes to comment on matters that are on the agenda, the Council will request comment when 
the matter is heard. The Council reserves the right to limit public comment on matters that are outside its 
subject matter jurisdiction. 

The City Council may regulate the total amount of time on particular issues and for speakers (typically 3 minutes). 
The Council may place additional time limits on comments, to ensure members of the public have an 
opportunity to speak and the Council is able to complete its business. A group may be asked to choose a 
spokesperson to address the Council on a subject matter, or the Council may limit the number of persons 
addressing the Council whenever a group of persons wishes to address the council on the same subject matter. 
Speakers may not cede their time to another. 

The Mayor manages the City Council meeting with a commitment to effective engagement while maintaining 
a positive, respectful decorum. The Mayor will typically start the Public Comment period sharing the following 
reminders relating decorum and Brown Act compliance efforts: 

 This is the time for the public to address the Council on matters on the Consent Agenda or matters NOT on
the Council Agenda.  This will be a comment period only.  If the public wishes a response they may provide
their contact information to the Deputy City Clerk.

 The Mayor will recognize each speaker in an orderly fashion. Most often, the Mayor will call the speakers
whom have signed in first and shall then call for those who would like to address the Council but whom did
not sign in by inviting them to come to the front of the room and wait to be recognized to speak. Once the
speaker is recognized, the speaker will address the Council only and shall provide comment from the public
microphone. Public Comment will typically not be taken from any person shouting from the audience.

 No heckling or shouting from the audience at a speaker shall be permitted.

 The City Council may ask “clarifying” questions only. Due to equity and Brown Act concerns, the Council will
avoid engaging in dialogue or debate.

 If there is an item of great community significance/interest and is within the Council’s subject matter
jurisdiction, the Council may request the item be agendized for further consideration at a subsequent Council
meeting. 

Mt. Shasta City Council Regular City Council Meeting Agenda - Amended
Mt. Shasta Community Center, 629 Alder Street  

Monday, August 22, 2016; 5:30 p.m. 

Regular City Council Meeting August 22, 2016 1



Mt. Shasta Regular City Council Meeting Agenda 
Monday, August 22, 2016 
Page 2 of 3 

5. Meeting Recess (As Necessary)

6. Council and Staff Comments

CITY COUNCIL BUSINESS 
Page 7. Consent Agenda - The City Manager recommends approval of the following Consent Agenda

items. All Resolutions and Ordinances on this agenda, or added hereto, shall be introduced or
adopted, as applicable, by title only, and the full reading thereof is hereby waived.

a. Approval of Minutes:  August 8, 2016 Regular City Council Meeting

b. Acceptance of Brown Act Committee Minutes:  Community Economic Development
Activities Committee (CEDAC) June 14, 2016 Minutes, Beautification Committee (BC) July 13, 
2016 Minutes.

c. Approval of Disbursements: Accounts Payable, 8/4/16 and 8/8/16; Total Gross Payroll
and Taxes: For Period Ending 7/31/16  (Finance Director)

d. Monthly Financial/Investment Report (Finance Director)

e. Surplus Equipment, CCR-16-36

Page 8. Siskiyou Opportunity Center - Recycling
 Background:  Traditionally Siskiyou Opportunity Center has previously been able to recover the 
 cost of sorting and transportation through the sale of the recycled material, but this is no longer 

     the case; the market for the resale of recycled material is nonexistent. This coupled with the  
     restructuring of how client training/work is paid though the State has meant that the Center can  
     no longer provide recycling service unless Cities, including Mt. Shasta, pay for that service. 
     Report By:  Muriel Howarth-Terrell, Finance Director 

  Recommended Council Action:  Staff recommends approval of payment for the additional costs for 
     recycling until we can develop new charges for refuse collection for both residential and   
     businesses and bring a new agreement between the City of Mt. Shasta and the Siskiyou 

  Opportunity Center. 
Page 9. Smith Sanitation – Refuse Removal During Transfer Station Closure

     Background:  The Black Butte Transfer Station had a fire on February 13, 2016 that closed the  
 facility for commercial refuse removal until July 7, 2016. Smith Sanitation Inc. is contracted to  

     collect the City’s residents refuse and dispose of the refuse at the Black Butte Transfer Station. We 
     recognized that there would be additional costs associated with this unfortunate event. 
     Report By:  Muriel Howarth-Terrell, Finance Director 

  Recommended Council Action:  Staff recommends approval of payment for the additional costs for 
     refuse removal during the closure of the Black Butte Transfer Station Closure. 

Page 10. Broadband Update
 Background:  This is a review of a proposal to the Cities of Weed, Mt. Shasta, and Dunsmuir for a  
 business plan and options.       
 Report By:  Jeffrey Collings, Mayor 
 Recommended Council Action: Approve payment of $33,333.34 to Columbia Telecommunications 
 Corporation 

Regular City Council Meeting August 22, 2016 2



Page 12. Council Approval of Sewer and Water Rate Study Consultant Agreement 
 Background: The City is in need of a comprehensive water and sewer rate study to establish a fair   
apportionment of costs to its customers.  The City advertised a Request for Qualifications from June 
15, 2016 through July 15, 2016.   Four Statements of Qualifications were received.  

          Report By:  Rod Bryan, Public Works Director 
          Recommended Council Action: Staff requests the City Council adopt the proposed Resolution   
          authorizing the City Manager to enter into a Professional Services Agreement between the City of  
          Mt. Shasta and PACE Engineering, Inc. for the purpose of providing a Utility Rate Study. 
  CITY COUNCIL/STAFF REPORTING PERIOD 

 13.  Council Reports on Attendance at Appointed/Outside Meetings 

 14.   Future Agenda Items (Appearing on the agenda within 60-90 days): 

a. Annual Audit of City Finances – 9/12/16 
b. Adopt Landing Development Plan Resolution – 9/12/16 
c. Awarding Construction Contract for STIP Funded Guardrail Project – 9/12/16 
d. Cannabis Dispensary Ordinance – 9/26/16 
e. Noise Element for the General Plan – 10/24/16 
f. Smoking Limitations – 10/24/16 
g. Possible Downtown Traffic Flow Changes/Request for Qualifications (RFQ) – 10/24/16 
h. Landing Costs for Future Discussion with the County – 10/24/16 
i. Review of CCO-98-05, Extraction and Exportation of Groundwater – 11/14/16 
j. Orchard Property Annexation – 11/14/16 
k. Crystal Geyser Industrial User Permit – TBD, Pending County CEQA 

  15.  Closed Session:  Closed Session: 1. Public Employment, City Manager – Pursuant to 
Government Code §54957 

       2.  Conference with Legal Counsel – Anticipated Litigation pursuant to subdivision (b) of Section 
54956.9 (two cases) 

            a.  City of Mt. Shasta vs. Ure 
            b.  City of Mt. Shasta vs. Quail Hill Estates 
 
         
 

 16.   Adjourn 
Availability of Public Records: All public records related to an open session item on this agenda, 

which are not exempt from disclosure pursuant to the California Public Records Act, that are 
distributed to a majority of the legislative body will be available for public inspection at City 
Hall located at 305 North Mt. Shasta Blvd., Mt. Shasta, CA at the same time the public records 
are distributed or made available to the members of the legislative body.  Agenda related 
writings or documents provided to a majority of the legislative body after distribution of the 
Agenda packet will be available for public review within a separate binder at City Hall at the 
same time as they are made available to the members of the legislative body. 

 
The  City of Mt. Shasta  does  not  discriminate on the  basis of race, color, national origin,  sex, 

religion,  age or disability in  employment or provision of  services.   In compliance with the 
Americans with Disabilities Act, persons requiring accommodations for a disability at a public 
meeting should notify the City Clerk or Deputy City Clerk at least 48 hours prior to the meeting 
at (530) 926-7510 in order to allow the City sufficient time to make reasonable arrangements 
to accommodate participation in this meeting. 



Mt. Shasta City Council Regular City Council Meeting DRAFT Minutes 

Mt. Shasta Community Center, 629 Alder Street 
August 8, 2016; 5:30 p.m. 

“Our mission is to maintain the character of our “small town” community while striking an appropriate balance 
between economic development and preservation of our quality of life.  We help create a dynamic and vital City 

by providing quality, cost-effective municipal services and by forming partnerships with residents and 
organizations in the constant pursuit of excellence.” 

STANDING AGENDA ITEMS 

1. Call to Order and Flag Salute:   At the hour of 5:32 p.m. Mayor Jeffrey Collings called the meeting to order
and led the audience in the Pledge of Allegiance.

2. Roll Call:  Council Members Present:  Morter, Burns, Stearns, Mayor Collings.  Councilmember Harkness
arrived at 5:34 p.m.
Council Members Absent:

3. Special Presentations & Announcements:  Public Outreach Regarding The Landing – Juliana Lucchesi, City
Planner.  Review of previous Development Plan, clarifying questions from Council.

4. Public Comment:
Marilyn Taylor – Comments regarding development at The Landing. 
Melinda Willey – Comments regarding previous Development Plan for The Landing. 
Ron Burch – Comments expressing appreciation for Mayor and Councilmembers, suggestions regarding use for 
The Landing. 
5. Council and Staff Comments:

Tim Stearns, Councilmember – Comments regarding Economic Development Council meeting and The Landing 
use. 
Mike Burns Sr., Councilmember – Comments regarding article in Western Cities magazine. 
Geoff Harkness, Councilmember – Comments encouraging citizens to file for City Council.  Question regarding 
escrow accounts in regards to Crystal Geyser. 
Muriel Howarth-Terrell, Finance Director – Comments explaining escrow account is in the development process. 
Kathy Morter, Councilmember – Comments regarding fuel-loading on Landing property, site visit to be done by 
Cal-Fire Forester in the future. 
Parish Cross, Acting City Manager/Police Chief – Coffee with Council, Candidate Filing Period. 

CITY COUNCIL BUSINESS 

6. Consent Agenda:
COUNCIL ACTION:  Approved the following Consent Agenda items.  All Resolutions and Ordinances on this 
agenda, or added hereto, shall be introduced or adopted, as applicable, by title only, and the full reading thereof 
is hereby waived. 

a. Approval of Minutes: July 25, 2016

b. Approval of Disbursements:  Accounts Payable, 7/19/16 and 7/27/16; Total Gross Payroll and Taxes:  For
Period Ending 7/17/16 (Finance Director)

c. Dispatch Records Job Description, CCR-16-35
COUNCIL ACTION:  Approve item ‘a’ as read 

Regular City Council Meeting August 22, 2016 4



City of Mt. Shasta Regular City Council Meeting Minutes 
August 8, 2016 
Page 2 of 3 
 

MOTION TO APPROVE: Councilmember Harkness 
SECOND:    Councilmember Burns 
AYES:          4 
NOES:         0 
ABSENT:     0 
ABSTAIN:    1  Councilmember Stearns (Absent from the July 25, 2016 meeting) 
COUNCIL ACTION:  Approve items ‘b’ and ‘c’, including Resolution CCR-16-35 by title only 
MOTION TO APPROVE: Councilmember Harkness 
SECOND:    Councilmember Stearns 
AYES:          5 
NOES:         0 
ABSENT:     0 
ABSTAIN:    0 
 
7. Transient Occupancy Taxes for Fiscal Year 2015-2016 
Muriel Howarth-Terrell, Finance Director – Review of TOT increase. 
Clarifying questions from Council. 

 COUNCIL ACTION:   None, informational report only. 
8. Siskiyou Opportunity Center – Recycling 
Muriel Howarth-Terrell – Review of background, Opportunity Center cost of recycling.  Recommendation that 
Council explore ways to recover costs while covering the cost in the meantime. 
Clarifying questions from Council, discussion. 
COUNCIL ACTION:  Continue the item to the August 22, 2016 Regular City Council Meeting, appoint Mayor 
Collings and Councilmember Harkness to a subcommittee with the Finance Director to look at issues and 
alternative outcomes, and to report back at the August 22 meeting. 
MOTION TO APPROVE:  Councilmember Stearns 
SECOND:  Councilmember Burns 
AYES:        5 
NOES:       0 
ABSENT:   0 
ABSTAIN:  0 
9. Smith Sanitation – Refuse Removal During Transfer Station Closure 
Muriel Howarth-Terrell, Finance Director – Review of background, increased cost from February 2016 to July 
2016.  Comments stating exploring possible reimbursement from transfer station insurance. 
Clarifying questions and Council discussion. 
COUNCIL ACTION:  Table the item to the next Regular City Council Meeting, request the opinion of the City 
Attorney.   
MOTION TO APPROVE:  Councilmember Stearns 
SECOND:  Councilmember Morter 
AYES:           5 
NOES:          0 
ABSENT:      0 
ABSTAIN:    0 
10. Meeting Recess:  7:20 p.m. – 7:30 p.m. 

11. Renegotiation with County Re:  Transient Occupancy Tax and The Landing 
Parish Cross, Acting City Manager/Chief of Police – Review of background and agreement, suggest to revisit. 
Tim Stearns, Councilmember – Comments regarding development of The Landing and cost to the City in 
previous years. 

Regular City Council Meeting August 22, 2016 5



City of Mt. Shasta Regular City Council Meeting Minutes 
August 8, 2016 
Page 3 of 3 

Clarifying questions and discussion. 
COUNCIL ACTION:  Staff directed to meet with Supervisor Ed Valenzuela and Siskiyou Economic Development 
Council Director Tonya Dowse to discuss the item.  Finance Director to report costs to the City to-date in regards 
to The Landing in six to eight weeks for Council action. 

  CITY COUNCIL/STAFF REPORTING PERIOD 

12. Council Reports on Attendance at Appointed/Outside Meetings:
Kathy Morter, Councilmember – Team Shasta future meeting with the Ford Family Foundation. 
Mike Burns Sr., Councilmember – Local Transportation Commission meeting, future vacancy. 
Tim Stearns, Councilmember – Start-Up Weekend Meeting. 
Geoff Harkness, Councilmember – Integrated Regional Water Management (IRWM) Grant Program guidelines. 
13. Future Agenda Items (Appearing on the agenda within 60-90 days):

COUNCIL ACTION:  Reviewed Items a through k.  Items regarding Recycling and Sanitation added for the 8/22/16 
meeting agenda.  Resolution to adopt The Landing Development Plan as-is with option to revise in the future 
added to 9/12/16 agenda. 

a. Surplus Equipment – 8/22/16
b. Council Approval of Sewer and Water Rate Study Consultant Agreement – 8/22/16
c. Broadband Update – 9/12/16 (Mayor Collings)
d. Annual Audit of City Finances – 9/12/16
e. Cannabis Dispensary Ordinance – 9/26/16
f. Noise Element for General Plan – 10/24/16
g. Smoking Limitations – 10/24/16
h. Possible Downtown Traffic Flow Changes/Request for Qualifications (RFQ) – 10/24/16
i. Review of CCO-98-05, Extraction and Exportation of Groundwater – 11/14/16
j. Orchard Property Annexation – 11/14/16
k. Crystal Geyser Industrial User Permit – TBD, Pending County CEQA

14. Closed Session:     Council adjourned to Closed Session at 8:10 p.m. and reconvened at 9:50 p.m.
COUNCIL ACTION:    No reportable action. 

15. Adjourn:  There being no further business, the meeting was adjourned at 9:50 p.m.

Respectfully Submitted by:  Kathryn M. Wilson, Administrative Assistant/Deputy City Clerk 

Regular City Council Meeting August 22, 2016 6



Mt. Shasta CEDAC Regular Meeting Minutes 

Police Station 

June 14, 2016 
Approved as Submitted 

“Our mission is to maintain the character of our “small town” community while striking an appropriate 
balance between economic development and preservation of our quality of life.  We help create a 

dynamic and vital City by providing quality, cost-effective municipal services and by forming 
partnerships with residents and organizations in the constant pursuit of excellence.” 

Item 

1. Call to Order: At the hour of 2:32PM, Mark Clure called the meeting to order.

2. Roll Call:  Members Present:    Jim Mullins, Mark Clure, Tessa Montgomery, Nancy Swift, Bethany
Mueller, Obie Hamrich, Tonya Dowse, Seata Madison Council Members Tim Stearns and Geoff
Harkness. City Planner Juliana

  Members Absent:   Josephine Wyatt 
Guest: Nathan Johnson, Pamela Nerona, Amy Lanier

3. Public Comment: None

4. Consent Agenda:

a. Approval of Minutes:

Committee Action: Approve Regular CEDAC Meeting 4/12/2016 
Motion to Approve: Jim Mullins 
Second: Nancy Swift 
Ayes: All 
Noes: None 
Abstain: None  

5. Follow up of Proposal by Pusher, Inc.
-Nathan Johnson gave a presentation of possible options provided by Pusher, Inc. The City of Mt. Shasta 
will have a clear idea of a budget in the next several weeks and will make a decision at that time.   
6. Bloggers to advertise Mt. Shasta: Tessa Montgomery

-Tessa will contact to bloggers to visit and review Mt. Shasta. 

7. Follow-up Report on Buying an Advertisement: Jim and guest Amy Lanier
-Amy and Jim discussed the advertising opportunities for ‘On-target’ and ‘Re-target’ for advertising
Mt. Shasta via online marketing. Jim discussed a golf show called ‘Driven” that wants to do a 30
minute episode dedicated to Mt. Shasta area for $3,500 with 4 ad spaces.
Action: Amy will generate a 90 day proposal to present at the next meeting

Regular City Council Meeting August 22, 2016 7



City of Mt. Shasta Regular CEDAC Meeting Minutes 
June 14, 2016 
Page 2 of 2 

Committee Action: CEDAC recommends the City persue Driven and On Target marketing: $1500 for 
Target and $3500 for Driven 
Motion to Approve: Nancy Swift 
Second: Tessa Montgomery 
Ayes: All 
Noes: None 
Abstain: None  

8. Report on Local Investment Strategies: Tonya Dowse
-Tonya provided feedback on her brewery research. If there is a need felt by the group, Tonya will
develop a strategy for localizing a brewery. Tonya will invite Mark with 3 Core to join the next
meeting.

9. Business Walk:
-We will plan the day at the next meeting.

10. Member Comments:
-Members gave their respective updates

11. Future Agenda Items:

-Items 5-9 will be future agenda items

12. Adjourn:  There being no further business, the meeting was adjourned at 4:30PM.Respectfully
Submitted by:  Tessa Montgomery and Bethany Mueller

Regular City Council Meeting August 22, 2016 8



MT. SHASTA BEAUTIFICATION COMMITTEE REGULAR MEETING MINUTES 
Lalo's Restaurant 

520 N. Mt. Shasta Blvd., Mt. Shasta, CA. 
July 13, 2016 
APPROVED 

Pre- meeting: Lorie shared that in 1996 when past member, Jack Moore, left the committee he 
gave her several boxes of logo T-shirts. Lorie re-discovered them recently and asked members 
for suggestions for how they can best be distributed. She estimates there might be 50 shirts. 
Members will consider the best use and share in the near future.  

1. Call to order - 4:10

Members Present - Lorie, Pam, Penny, Terez, Leslie, and Jacquie 

2. Public Comments - Pam noted that the S. Mt. Shasta monument sign is not lighted. She noted
this about 10:00 one evening while returning home.  Lorie said to call Rod about this outage. 

3. Regular Meeting -

Minutes from last meeting, June 8 - motion to approve by Penny, Jacquie 2nd. Approved. 

Agenda Items- 
Item #8 - Parker Plaza - Jacquie reported 2 large shade trees were planted last Friday. They'll 
also provide Fall color. The mature trees were bought with funds from private donations 
collected for Parker Plaza. Jacquie estimates the fund still has about $500 remaining. Like other 
areas of the Plaza, irrigation is being handled by the maintenance company. Jacquie added that 
when Rod saw the mature tree size he said the new trees are in line with what he wants for future 
street tree replacement. Members noted they see more people using and honoring the intent of 
Parker Plaza, and that the stone table moved to City Hall is being used more in that location. 

Item #9 - Solar lighting on Lake street sign. Lorie spoke to Mary Hickey and Mary is  
researching a solar light with enough lumens to be effective. Jacquie suggested researching 
Costco's inventory of solar lighting and battery backup units, and locally Wholesale solar. Lorie 
will investigate to see if Wholesale Solar might want to participate in some manner.   

Item #10 - Library planting maintenance. Terry Thompson and Lorie are still trying to schedule a 
discussion time.  Penny noted there is new library management ( a woman named Courtney is in 
charge of new library management). Local taxing has created ample funds in the library budget.  
A member shared the funds are in the $300K range.  Penny's believes that since the funds came 
from Mt. Shasta citizens, the money should be spent in the City. Pam said she thought the main 

Regular City Council Meeting August 22, 2016 9



library grounds were not well kept, except areas tended by BC work efforts. Mention was made 
of some historical trees transplanted there from an original ranch in Mt Shasta. Lorie hopes to 
see landscaping against the library building. Lorie will press to get a meeting with Terry 
Thompson to get feedback and goals of the new management. Penny mentioned that the Friends 
of the Library Committee have many issues they're considering and may not know that BC has 
been servicing the landscaping. Discuss on the August agenda 

Item #11 - Public Art - BC members had no update but believes DTEC, or a sub-committee, is 
discussing murals and public art.  

Item #12 - Gift Catalogue - BC members reviewed that in 2001, there was a preliminary concept 
and plan for a Mt. Shasta gift catalogue marketing memorial gifts like - trees, benches, and 
municipal objects with dedication plaques. Terez thought it was proposed as a tab or note on the 
City website. A rough prototype was designed, i.e. the Mt. Runners dedication bricks at City 
Hall, but no subsequent action occurred.  BC members stated that any revival of a catalogue can't 
be run by BC.  Lorie recalls people who in the past bought trees or some granite markers that she 
assisted.  BC members likes the idea of reviving a gift/memorial catalogue, but agreed the  
management would need a point person to coordinate. Penny recalls that plaques were sadly 
stolen on some of the earlier installations. Lorie asks for serious consideration of the gift 
catalogue and how it might be best managed.  BC could organize a plan for gifts and memorials 
that would enhance the City, but some non- BC citizen would be needed to handle ordering, 
delivery, and accounting. 

Penny's comment about past vandalism sparked a reminder from Lorie that while she and her 
husband were re-planting this year at the City Hall area, a bag of landscape bark she left there 
overnight was taken.  Jacquie mentioned the thief of an unplanted maple tree from Parker Plaza. 

Item #13 - August Meeting - Terez recommends Fall work dates be discussed at the next 
meeting.  Additionally, she asked for feedback on the 31 hanging flower baskets. Some are 
struggling and Lorie can replace some with the extra's she is reviving at her home.   Jacquie 
believes this basket order was not colorful enough, and thinks the baskets fade into the 
background. Any future baskets need to consider the competing surroundings and need to be 
larger. The current baskets are appealing from the sidewalks but are not noticeable when driving.  
Members recommended that future baskets have more trailing plants for drama.  There has been 
a learning curve regarding hanging baskets - future baskets will be more successful, prominent, 
and easier to maintain.  

Future Agenda - Pam noted Rod is getting BC a list of City properties for long-term planning. 

Adjourned - 5:18 

Regular City Council Meeting August 22, 2016 10



 City Council Agenda Item # 7c 
Staff Report 

Meeting Date:  August 22, 2016 

To: Mayor and City Council 

From: Muriel Howarth Terrell, Finance Director 

Subject: Approval of Warrants and Payroll 

Recommendation: 

Staff requests the Mayor and City Council Approve warrants paid including payroll benefits and 
withholding, and payroll distribution, in the amount of $181,960.70. 

Background & Summary: 

Approval of Check Numbers 38439-38495 $   110,641.16 

Total Payroll Distribution $     50,963.25 

Total Payroll Taxes  $     20,356.29 

$   181,960.70 

Financial Impact: 

Espenditures are consistent with the Budget that the City Council has adopted. 

Compliance with 2014-17 City Council Strategic Plan: 

The City Council’s leadership efforts to ensure adherence to the best possible financial 
practices and overall transparency falls under Strategic Focus IV – Grow Mt. Shasta Pride and 
Quality and the Municipal Responsibilities of Progressive Leadership and Financial Health and 
Economic Opportunity. 

Attachments: 

1.) Check Registers – 8/04/16, 8/08/16 

2.) ACH Payroll Distribution – 8/4/16 

3.) EFTPS Reports – 8/9/16 

Regular 
x Consent 

Closed 
Presentation 

Regular City Council Meeting August 22, 2016 11



Regular City Council Meeting August 22, 2016 12



Regular City Council Meeting August 22, 2016 13



Regular City Council Meeting August 22, 2016 14



Regular City Council Meeting August 22, 2016 15



Regular City Council Meeting August 22, 2016 16



Regular City Council Meeting August 22, 2016 17



Regular City Council Meeting August 22, 2016 18



City Council Agenda Item # 7d 
Staff Report 

Meeting Date:  August 22, 2016 

To: Mayor and City Council  

From: Muriel Howarth Terrell, Director of Finance 

Subject: Monthly Investment and Financial Report for the Period Ending July 31, 
2016 

Recommendation: 

Staff respectfully requests the City Council review the provided information regarding the City’s 
investments. 

Background & Summary: 

As of July 30, 2016 the combined funds the City of Mt. Shasta had invested in the Local Agency 
Investment Fund (L.A.I.F.) totaled $2,312,768.99. The July 2016 LAIF statement is attached 
along with the performance data for the month of July. Most surplus funds over which the City 
has control are currently invested in LAIF. The balance of the City’s cash funds are held in the 
pooled checking account with Tri Counties Bank and the CDBG Fund CD’s held at Scott Valley 
Bank and with ProEquities. 

Current investment rates are: 

L.A.I.F.  July 31, 2016 0.588% 
CD’s-1Year  July 31, 2016 0.20% 
Treasury Note – 3 month July 31, 2016 0.26% 
Treasury Note – 2 Yr.  July 31, 2016 0.66% 
Treasury Note – 5 Yr.  July 31, 2016 1.03% 
Treasury Note – 10 Yr. July 31, 2016 1.45% 
Treasury Note – 30 Yr. July 31, 2016 2.18% 

Bloomberg as reported by Chandler Asset Management 

Local Rates: 
Tri Counties Bank July 31, 2016 CD 1 year 0.20% 
Scott Valley Bank July 31, 2016 CD 1 year 0.25% 

The LAIF average increased slightly last month, other rates across most of the Treasury yield 
curve increased with the exception of the 30 year notes. We continue to anticipate the LAIF 

 Regular 
x Consent 
 Closed 
 Presentation 

Regular City Council Meeting August 22, 2016 19



2 

rate staying in a narrow range around .50% The LAIF yield is lower than the 2 Yr. Note. Short 
term CD rates are no better than the LAIF rate and longer term notes may offer better yields it 
does not give us the liquidity we need. The LAIF rate remains the best available rate that meets 
the City’s requirement for liquidity and safety. 

Revenues: 
Property Tax Revenue: The City received $483,840 through June 2016 which is what was 
anticpated for the fiscal year. 

Sales Tax Revenue: 
The sales tax revenue through the end of the fourth quarter of 2015/16 was $903,169 which is 
$167,943 more than the total collections through the same quarter last year. The chart below 
illustrates the trend of sales tax revenue for the 4th quarter in the last few years. This increase 
was offset with a decline of $168,000 of the In-Lieu Tax as the removal of the  “Triple Flip” 
occurred. 

Transient Occupancy Tax: 
The collection of the fourth quarter TOT came in above what was anticipated. The total TOT 
collected equaled $713,000 which is $93,000 more than the previous fiscal year.  The chart on 
the next page represents the 4th quarter TOT over the last few years.  

Regular City Council Meeting August 22, 2016 20



3 

Financial Impact: 

The investments are in compliance with the City’s investment policy and provide for meeting 
the City’s cash flow needs for the next month and 6 month periods. 

Compliance with 2014-17 City Council Strategic Plan: 

The City Council’s leadership efforts to ensure adherence to the best possible financial 
practices and overall transparency falls under Strategic Focus IV – Grow Mt. Shasta Pride and 
Quality and the Municipal Responsibilities of Progressive Leadership and Financial Health and 
Economic Opportunity. 
Attachments: 

Regular City Council Meeting August 22, 2016 21



4 

• LAIF Monthly Statement
• LAIF Performance Report
• LAIF Monthly Balances
• Chandler Asset Management August 2016 Newsletter

Regular City Council Meeting August 22, 2016 22



Regular City Council Meeting August 22, 2016 23



Regular City Council Meeting August 22, 2016 24



Regular City Council Meeting August 22, 2016 25



Regular City Council Meeting August 22, 2016 26



City Council Agenda Item # 7e 
Staff Report 

Meeting Date:  August 22, 2016 

To: Mayor and City Council 

From: Parish D. Cross, Acting City Manager 

Subject: Declaration of Surplus Equipment 

Recommendation: 

Staff respectfully requests the City Council Adopt Resolution CCR-16-36 A Resolution of the City 
Council of the City of Mt. Shasta Declaring Certain Vehicles and Equipment as Surplus Property, 
and Authorizing Disposal. 

Background & Summary: 

Staff has met on several different occasions and has identified and put together a list of 
equipment that is no longer necessary for City operations and should be declared surplus for 
the purpose of disposal.  Such equipment will be sold at auction to recover whatever remaining 
value it has, and the proceeds placed in the City’s reserve fund.   

Equipment Surplus List: 

1. 2005 F550 4X4 Ford Min Pumper.  Vin# 1FDAW57P46EA78775  License # CA 1208897
2. 2005 Dodge 2500 4X4 Chief Vehicle. Vin# 1D7KS28D46J14246  License # CA  1178363
3. 2007 Ford F250 Super Duty Vin# 1FTSW21Y58EC93805  License # CA 1272156
4. Dell PowerEdge 2900 Server  Model ECM01  Serial # GG8NQG1  MFG. Date 063008

Attachments: 

Proposed Resolution with Attachment 

Regular 
X Consent 

Closed 
Presentation 

Regular City Council Meeting August 22, 2016 27



RESOLUTION  NO.  CCR-16-36 

A  RESOLUTION  OF  THE  CITY  COUNCIL 
OF  THE  CITY  OF  MT.  SHASTA 

DECLARING  CERTAIN  VEHICLES  AND  EQUIPMENT 
AS  SURPLUS  PROPERTY  AND  AUTHORIZING  DISPOSAL 

WHEREAS, the Department Directors of the City of Mt. Shasta have identified certain City-owned 
vehicles and equipment that are no longer necessary to the City’s operations, and are taking up storage 
space; and 

WHEREAS, the City has the power under Section 37350 of the Government Code to dispose of property 
for the common benefit; and 

WHEREAS, the City Council finds that the realization of the salvage value of property that is no longer 
necessary for operational needs, so that it might be applied to acquisition of new equipment would be of 
benefit to the City and its citizens; and 

WHEREAS, the City Council finds that the declaration of excess personal property as surplus and the 
conduct of a public auction is an acceptable means to ensure that the City does not make a gift of public 
funds in the disposal of such property. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the City Council of the City of Mt. Shasta as follows: 

1. The personal property described on the attached Exhibit “A” is determined to be excess to the City’s
operational needs and is authorized for disposal by means of a public auction.

2. The net proceeds of the auction will be transferred to the Equipment Replacement Reserve Fund for
the acquisition of future equipment needs of the City as determined by Council.

The foregoing Resolution was duly passed and adopted at a regular meeting of the City Council 
of the City of Mt. Shasta on the 22th day of August, 2016 by the following vote: 

AYES: 
NOES: 
ABSENT: 
ABSTAIN: 

DATED: August 22, 2016 

CITY OF MT. SHASTA 

ATTEST: 

Jeffrey Collings, Mayor 

Kathryn M. Wilson, Deputy City Clerk 

Regular City Council Meeting August 22, 2016 28



Exhibit “A” 

Surplus Property List 

1. 2005 F550 4X4 Ford Min Pumper.  Vin# 1FDAW57P46EA78775  License # CA 1208897
2. 2005 Dodge 2500 4X4 Chief Vehicle. Vin# 1D7KS28D46J14246  License # CA  1178363
3. 2007 Ford F250 Super Duty Vin# 1FTSW21Y58EC93805  License # CA 1272156
4. Dell PowerEdge 2900 Server  Model ECM01  Serial # GG8NQG1  MFG. Date 063008

Regular City Council Meeting August 22, 2016 29



City Council Agenda Item #8  
Staff Report 

Meeting Date:  

To: 

From: 

Subject: 

August 22, 2016 

Mayor and City Council 

Muriel Terrell, Finance Director 

Siskiyou Opportunity Center – Recycling 

Recommendation: 

Staff recommends approval of payment for the additional costs for recycling until we can 
develop new charges for refuse collection for both residential and businesses and bring a new 
agreement between the City of Mt. Shasta and the Siskiyou Opportunity Center. 

Background & Summary: 

The Siskiyou Opportunity Center has provided recycling services either by drop off, bins or blue 
bags since 1990. The recycling world has changed significantly over the years through 
legislative, societal and environmental changes and concerns. So too has the way in which 
recycling in collected and processed.  Now our efforts are in divided into two areas. One, we 
have state mandated local business pick up, provided weekly, and two we have a residential 
blue bag program for pick up once monthly. 

Traditionally Siskiyou Opportunity Center has previously been able to recover the cost of 
sorting and transportation through the sale of the recycled material and though the training 
fees paid by the State for the Center’s client population. This is no longer the case; the market 
for the resale of recycled material is nonexistent. This coupled with the restructuring of how 
client training/work is paid though the State has meant that the Center can no longer provide 
recycling service unless Cities, including Mt. Shasta, pays for that service.   

The cost for the blue bag program is estimated at approximately $1,300 per month. The cost 
for mandated business pickup is approximately $1,565 per month. This is a total of $2,865 per 
month. We currently pay $825 per month to the Center. This is an increase of approximately 
$2,040 per month. 

We will need to explore other options for how recycling is handled in our City as well as in our 
region. We hope to explore what those options are and how together we can meet State goals 
for recycling and cost of meeting those mandates. 

Fiscal Impact: 

A new cost structure for Refuse Collection will need to be developed through a Proposition 218 
process. This will take some time to develop. Our surrounding Cities are in the same 

X Regular 
Consent 
Closed 
Presentation 

Regular City Council Meeting August 22, 2016 30



2 

predicament and have agreed to continue to pay for recycling until they too can do the 218 
process. 

Strategic Goals: 

We would like to stress the importance to continue to have a recycling program that meets the 
requirements that the State of California has imposed but also know that recycling is the right 
thing to do for our community and society in general.   

Regular City Council Meeting August 22, 2016 31



City Council Agenda Item #9  
Staff Report 

Meeting Date:  

To: Mayor and City Council  

From: Muriel Terrell, Finance Director 

Subject: Smith Sanitation – Refuse Removal during Transfer Station Closure 

Recommendation: 

Staff recommends approval of payment for the additional costs for refuse removal during the 
closure of the Black Butte Transfer Station Closure. 

Background & Summary: 

The Black Butte Transfer Station had a fire on February 13, 2016 that closed the facility for 
commercial refuse removal until July 7, 2016. Smith Sanitation Inc. is contracted to collect the 
City’s residents refuse and dispose of the refuse at the Black Butte Transfer Station. We 
recognized that there would be additional costs associated with this unfortunate event. The 
cost associated with this event amounted to $577.93 per day. The total cost will be 
approximately $51,500.00. 

The City will be requesting reimbursement for this additional cost through the Black Butte 
Transfer Station’s insurance.  

August 22, 2016 X Regular 
 Consent 
 Closed 

Presentation 

Regular City Council Meeting August 22, 2016 32



June 15, 2016 

Mr. Jeffrey Collings 
Mayor, City of Mt. Shasta 

Mr. Ken Palfini 
Mayor, City of Weed 

Mr. Josh Spurlock 
Mayor, City of Dunsmuir 

Via email for distribution: jcollings@mtshastaca.gov 

Re: Proposal to develop broadband strategic and business plan 

Dear Mr. Collings, Mr. Palfini, and Mr. Spurlock: 

CTC Technology & Energy (CTC) is pleased to provide this proposal to develop a broadband strategic plan 
and business plan for the cities of Mt. Shasta, Weed, and Dunsmuir. We believe that your interest in 
working together will create not only project efficiencies, but also greater scale to attract potential private 
partner interest. 

Since 1983, we have provided independent technical and business planning guidance to hundreds of local 
governments nationwide—including the cities of Santa Cruz, San Francisco, Seattle, and Westminster, 
Maryland, as well as the Town of Holly Springs, North Carolina.  

Over the past two decades, our staff has undertaken feasibility analysis on public sector broadband for 
more than 50 cities, towns, and counties. Many of our engagements have focused on public sector 
strategies to build or expand infrastructure; enhance the availability of high-bandwidth services; increase 
broadband competition; and promote economic development. 

We are experts at investigating public sector broadband options. Among our current clients are the cities 
of Boulder, Colorado and Palo Alto, California; we are conducting a range of fiber feasibility studies, 
market analyses, engineering, business modeling, and stakeholder engagement tasks for each.  

In addition to our work directly with clients, we are also nationally recognized for our leadership in 
developing best practices for enabling public sector broadband initiatives, including public–private 
partnerships. For example:  

 CTC principals Joanne Hovis and Andrew Afflerbach authored “Gigabit Communities,” an
independent white paper on municipal gigabit-facilitation strategies commissioned by Google.1

(Google has stated that the recommendations we developed in our white paper formed the basis
for the Google Fiber City Checklist.) We have also authored fiber development guides for the New
America Foundation, Utilities Telecom Council, and Tennessee Valley Public Power Association.2

1 www.Gigabit-Communities.com 
2 www.CTCnet.us/library 

Regular City Council Meeting August 22, 2016 33

mailto:jcollings@mtshastaca.gov
http://www.gigabit-communities.com/
http://www.ctcnet.us/library


CTC Proposal 

ii 

 Ms. Hovis recently authored “The Emerging World of Broadband Public–Private Partnerships: A
Business Strategy and Legal Guide” (published by the Benton Foundation).3

 Ms. Hovis played a key role in helping the Cities of Urbana and Champaign and the University of
Illinois identify and negotiate with a private partner that will finance and operate an FTTP
expansion of the coalition’s middle-mile network; commenting on the partnership, FCC Chairman
Wheeler said that it “provides a valuable model for communities and companies throughout the
country and a demonstration of the creativity that is stimulated when localities are free to work
with the private sector to improve broadband offerings.”4

 We are the lead business and technical consultant to the Commonwealth of Kentucky in its
partnership strategy and negotiations with Macquarie Capital—an agreement that, to our
knowledge, represents the largest broadband public–private partnership in the United States.

 Ms. Hovis and our other senior staff are currently assisting a range of other public entities in
developing innovative public–private partnerships, including the City of Boston and New York
State.

CTC’s reputation rests on our track record of providing independent, objective, and unbiased guidance. 
We are proudly conservative in our approach and specialize in quantifying and explaining risk. We do not 
hide the challenges of municipal fiber networks; rather we explain those challenges and assist 
communities to develop strategies and tactics to mitigate risk and build toward the future. 

We are appropriately suspicious of so-called “partnerships” that entail public risk and private benefit. We 
focus on identifying funding opportunities and developing business models that achieve community 
purposes while appropriately allocating risk among the public and private entities. 

We are also true believers in public sector fiber initiatives. The President cited our study on public 
broadband options in his report on the benefits of municipal broadband projects.5 

Please do not hesitate to contact me if I can provide additional information about CTC. We look forward 
to the opportunity to work with the Cities. 

Best Regards, 

Joanne S. Hovis, President 
jhovis@ctcnet.us | 301.933.1488 

3 https://www.benton.org/sites/default/files/partnerships.pdf 
4 http://www.fcc.gov/document/fcc-chairman-tom-wheeler-stmt-uc2b-and-itv-3-gigabit-announcement 
5 http://www.whitehouse.gov/sites/default/files/docs/community-
based_broadband_report_by_executive_office_of_the_president.pdf 

Regular City Council Meeting August 22, 2016 34

mailto:jhovis@ctcnet.us
https://www.benton.org/sites/default/files/partnerships.pdf
http://www.fcc.gov/document/fcc-chairman-tom-wheeler-stmt-uc2b-and-itv-3-gigabit-announcement
http://www.whitehouse.gov/sites/default/files/docs/community-based_broadband_report_by_executive_office_of_the_president.pdf
http://www.whitehouse.gov/sites/default/files/docs/community-based_broadband_report_by_executive_office_of_the_president.pdf


CTC Proposal 

iii 

Contents 
1. CTC’s Experience and References ......................................................................................................... 4

About CTC ................................................................................................................................................. 4 

Representative Past Projects .................................................................................................................... 6 

References .............................................................................................................................................. 12 

2. Project Team ....................................................................................................................................... 13

3. Scope of Work ..................................................................................................................................... 15

Task 1: Conduct On-Site Strategy Session ............................................................................................... 15 

Task 2: Prepare Competitive Assessment of Incumbent Services .......................................................... 16 

Task 3: Evaluate Community and City Needs.......................................................................................... 16 

Task 4: Develop High-Level Design and Cost Estimates for FTTP Network ............................................ 17 

Task 5: Develop Business Plan for Candidate Network .......................................................................... 17 

Task 6: Examine Range of Network Business Models and Funding Mechanisms .................................. 19 

Business Models .................................................................................................................................. 19 

Funding Mechanisms .......................................................................................................................... 19 

Task 7: Identify and Analyze Potential Partners ..................................................................................... 20 

Task 8: Prepare Final Report and Present Recommendations ............................................................... 20 

4. Project Cost and Hourly Rates ............................................................................................................ 22

Appendix A: Team Resumes........................................................................................................................ 23 

Joanne S. Hovis, Esq. | President and Director of Business Consulting .................................................. 23 

Andrew Afflerbach, Ph.D., P.E. | CEO and Director of Engineering ........................................................ 26 

Thomas J. Asp, BSEE, MBA | Principal Engineer and Analyst ................................................................. 29 

Matthew DeHaven | Principal Engineer and Project Manager .............................................................. 32 

Charlie Hamm | GIS Specialist and Staff Engineer .................................................................................. 36 

Marc Schulhof | Senior Analyst and Technical Writer ............................................................................ 38 

Eric Wirth | Senior Project Engineer ....................................................................................................... 39 

Regular City Council Meeting August 22, 2016 35



CTC Proposal 

4 

1. CTC’s Experience and References

About CTC 
CTC is an established, woman-owned consulting firm that 
offers a unique combination of qualifications and capabilities 
in broadband financial analysis, business planning, 
engineering, and network strategic planning. Founded in 
1983, we have extensive experience providing independent 
financial, strategic, and technical, guidance for public and non-
profit communications networks, including those of state and 
local governments, non-profit consortia, universities, and 
municipal utilities.  

CTC has deep experience with the financial and technical 
aspects of municipal-owned fiber networks. We have advised 
more than 100 communities, including the cities of Seattle, 
San Francisco, and Portland, Oregon, regarding the feasibility of building fiber, and have supported the 
government of New Zealand on the design of its nationwide open access FTTP broadband network.  

We have advised jurisdictions of all sizes, from the very small (Lake City, CO; Sturgis, MI) to the very large 
(Los Angeles, District of Columbia, Seattle City Light), regarding business planning and operations of fiber 
networks. Our staff of experienced financial analysts, business strategists, and engineers has analyzed 
both proposed fiber projects and ongoing operations; identified business hurdles and opportunities; and 
prepared well-documented financial projections to support decision-makers.  

CTC has written requests for proposal (RFP), requests for information (RFI), invitations to bid, bills of 
materials (BOM), and other procurement documents for clients ranging from state entities to regional 
consortia and municipal utilities. We have also supported many clients in the analysis and evaluation of 
responses to procurement documents, and have negotiated subsequent contracts with and on behalf of 
clients for a range of projects.  

Our analysts are also experienced with developing marketing and operations plans for public fiber 
networks, and with assisting clients to understand and market to potential customer segments, to plan 
appropriate products and services, and to price those products and services. 

We have a robust roster of national and international clients, and our workload reflects that success. As 
we have proven over the past three decades, however, we are adept at managing our clients’ needs and 
our staffing levels. We have a proven track record of completing projects on time, regardless of the size 
or complexity of the tasks at hand—or the time zone in which the projects are located. We commit to 
providing an exceptional level of service and to meeting your timeline. 

We pride ourselves on our research and analysis, and our ability to translate complex technical issues 
into clear, concise, and actionable reports. For example, CTC principals Joanne Hovis and Andrew 
Afflerbach recently authored “Gigabit Communities,” an independent white paper on gigabit-facilitation 

We are in an industry that is 
changing by the day with respect 

to regulatory frameworks, 
technology, and potential 

business models. What 
distinguishes CTC is that we are 

engaging those issues every day, 
developing new strategies for 

leveraging public sector 
investment to enable sustainable 

last-mile connectivity.

Regular City Council Meeting August 22, 2016 36



CTC Proposal 

5 

strategies (www.Gigabit-Communities.com) commissioned by 
Google.6 Ms. Hovis and Dr. Afflerbach also co-authored, with the New 
America Foundation’s Open Technology Institute, a report on local 
broadband networks: “The Art of the Possible: An Overview of Public 
Broadband Options” (http://www.ctcnet.us/publications/the-art-of-
possible-an-overview-of-public-broadband-options/). That study was 
recently cited in President Obama’s report on municipal fiber 
networks, “Community-based Broadband Solutions: The Benefits 
Competition and Choice for Community Development and High 
Speed Internet Access.”7 

Our reputation rests on our track record of providing independent 
guidance. For three decades, we have served the public sector in 
evaluating its broadband deployment efforts and in bringing an 
independent, sometimes critical, eye to communications efforts. We are not affiliated with equipment 
manufacturers or cable operators. To ensure that we can provide independent guidance, we have, as a 
policy, no financial stake in the strategies you choose. Unlike some consultants, we do not have a hidden 
agenda to become an operator of your network. 

In addition to our strategic, business, and technical planning of FTTP networks for cities such as San 
Francisco and Seattle, CTC recently helped to negotiate public-private FTTP partnerships for two municipal 
networks—one owned by the City of Westminster, Maryland; the other owned by the cities of Champaign 
and Urbana, Illinois.  

Our philosophy has always been one that emphasizes both self-reliance in the public sector, and the 
potential benefits of governmental provisioning of services to meet local needs. We are also keenly 
aware of the potential that robust broadband infrastructure has to aid local economic development.  

We have helped dozens of cities nationwide to evaluate and build the business case for municipal 
broadband networks. And we have often focused on fiber optics as a state-of-the-art technology that can 
meet current and future needs in a variety of environments. That said, our success as broadband 
consultants comes down to the fact that we do not minimize our assessment of costs or risks; nor do we 
make unreasonable assumptions about revenue factors such as take rates and service fees. If there is a 
reasonable business case for a City-owned broadband utility, we will help make it. But if the numbers do 
not add up, we will explain why they do not—and then work tirelessly to identify other options for meeting 
Mt. Shasta’s broadband goals. 

We are in an industry that is changing by the day with respect to regulatory frameworks, technology, 
and potential business models. What distinguishes CTC is that we are engaging those issues every day, 
developing new strategies for leveraging public sector investment to enable sustainable last-mile 
connectivity. We are true believers in the potential benefits of FTTP, including in rural areas, but follow a 
conservative philosophy around public risk; we think it is extremely important that our clients understand 
the challenges related to such initiatives. 

6 While this work was commissioned and supported by Google, CTC’s analysis was entirely independent and 
focused on promoting city needs, rather than those of Google or any other network deployer.  
7 http://www.whitehouse.gov/sites/default/files/docs/community-
based_broadband_report_by_executive_office_of_the_president.pdf 

Our philosophy has always been 
one that emphasizes both self-

reliance in the public sector, and 
the potential benefits of 

governmental provisioning of 
services to meet local needs. Our 

reputation rests on our track 
record of providing independent 

guidance.

Regular City Council Meeting August 22, 2016 37

http://www.gigabit-communities.com/
http://www.ctcnet.us/publications/the-art-of-possible-an-overview-of-public-broadband-options/
http://www.ctcnet.us/publications/the-art-of-possible-an-overview-of-public-broadband-options/
http://www.whitehouse.gov/sites/default/files/docs/community-based_broadband_report_by_executive_office_of_the_president.pdf
http://www.whitehouse.gov/sites/default/files/docs/community-based_broadband_report_by_executive_office_of_the_president.pdf


CTC Proposal 

6 

Representative Past Projects 
As the examples below illustrate, we offer demonstrated experience and qualifications in the areas of 
network strategic planning, financial analysis, and business planning. These are just a few of the hundreds 
of client projects CTC has successfully completed over the past 32 years.  

City of Albuquerque, New Mexico: CTC developed a strategy for connecting the City’s key stakeholders 
and locations with a network that will have the most impact on its economic development and digital 
inclusion goals. CTC surveyed candidate network routes and developed a system-level design and pricing 
estimates for the construction and operation of fiber infrastructure. Our strategic design maximized 
potential economic development, minimized budgeting risks, and positioned the City for future network 
expansion. CTC then prepared the technical portions of an RFP for the City’s procurement process to 
identify an expert partner for the proposed fiber and wireless construction. 

Arlington County, Virginia: CTC currently is designing and managing the construction of ConnectArlington, 
the last-mile fiber network that will connect approximately 80 of the County’s government buildings, 
schools, and public safety facilities. CTC staff members, including an on-site project manager, are 
overseeing every aspect of the project, from network mapping to construction supervision and 
acceptance.  

CTC has also developed the business plan and strategy for the County's dark fiber leasing initiative, and is 
currently preparing an RFP for the County's use in selecting a fiber broker. This third-party broker 
innovation is the first of its kind among public entities in the United States. 

Additionally, CTC staff are providing critical input into the design and testing for other phases of the 
County’s self-managed fiber construction project, which will ultimately have close to 60 miles of backbone 
fiber.  

City of Atlanta: CTC currently is advising the City on strategic and tactical approaches it can take to plan, 
build, and operate its own fiber network to cost-effectively serve its internal needs, promote private 
sector broadband investment, and enable competition in the City’s residential and business broadband 
markets. We are assisting the City in its discussions with Google Fiber and other telecommunications 
providers about options for joint build and partnership, and providing technical due diligence for the City. 

Village of Bald Head Island, North Carolina: CTC has supported the Village on a range of feasibility 
analysis, strategic planning, and business planning tasks related to meeting its broadband needs. We 
currently are conducting public–private partnership planning with the Village. 

City of Boston: In an ongoing engagement, CTC is analyzing the City’s strategic options for deploying fiber 
optics to connect public schools throughout the City. CTC’s business analysts and engineers reviewed the 
engineering that the City had already completed; the stakeholders’ previously identified needs and 
concerns; the extent of existing City infrastructure assets; and the general scope of the fiber network 
envisioned by the City. We are now exploring a wide range of public and public–private options for 
maximizing the benefits of the City’s planned investment to get direct fiber connectivity to selected 
schools. 

City of Culver City, California: CTC developed a high-level network strategy, design, and business model 
framework to support Culver City’s planning of a fiber optic backbone and fiber optic connections to key 

Regular City Council Meeting August 22, 2016 38



CTC Proposal 

 

 

7 

economic development sites. The proposed strategy is designed to ensure that broadband infrastructure 
in Culver City evolves over time to meet the needs of its businesses, and public institutions. 
 
Over the course of this project, CTC met with key city staff to review economic development objectives; 
reviewed the potential to leverage existing fiber and conduit assets in serving the city’s identified target 
areas; facilitated discussions with business stakeholders and other community representatives to 
understand their perceptions regarding availability, reliability, and affordability of broadband services; 
researched the region’s available services and costs; prepared a preliminary fiber network design to 
provide redundant connectivity in the city’s target areas; developed a business model framework to guide 
the city’s decision-making. 
 
State of Delaware: CTC has provided communications engineering consulting services to the State 
Department of Transportation for almost 20 years. Most recently, our engineers and business analysts 
wrote the statewide master plan for deploying an integrated broadband fiber and microwave network.  
 
District of Columbia: CTC performed a business case and technology analysis for DC-Net, a fiber optic 
telecommunications network that provides voice and data services for the District of Columbia 
government. The network consists of resilient, interconnected fiber optic rings that will eventually 
connect more than 400 government buildings in the District, including Police Department, Emergency 
Management Agency, and Fire Department radio towers.  
 
CTC’s independent assessment analyzed public safety, government, and educational uses of the network. 
The project tasks included asset mapping and network description; cost comparison to leased/managed 
services; functional and technical comparison between dark fiber and alternatives; leveraging the ability 
to resell to other entities; identifying support mechanisms; and determining recommended business 
practices. 
 
CTC serves in an ongoing role as strategic fiber advisor to the City, and is leading the technical team 
conducting FirstNet planning for the District. 
 
EAGLE-Net: CTC reviewed the business plan and financial models of EAGLE-Net, an intergovernmental 
network organization serving more than 170 communities across Colorado. We analyzed the cost 
assumptions and projections, and proposed refinements as merited by economic changes in the service 
area and local market. We proposed a pricing structure for service to anchor tenants and suggested 
potential future network opportunities and appropriate strategies to capture additional users, both last-
mile providers and anchor institutions. We prepared marketing and sales plans designed to realize 
revenues necessary to sustain the EAGLE-Net enterprise in the future. 
 
Town of Holly Springs, North Carolina: CTC conducted a broadband needs assessment and developed a 
strategic approach and return on investment (ROI) analysis for the town’s proposed fiber network 
implementation. Our team of project managers, outside plant engineers, and network engineers then 
designed and oversaw implementation of a middle-mile fiber network serving the town’s community 
anchor institutions (e.g., schools and libraries) and major economic development partners. The first sites 
on the 19-mile network went live in June 2014. 
 
As in our engagement with the City of Westminster, we also assisted the town in identifying a private 
partner to assume operating risk in providing services to the public. Ting Internet will build an FTTP 
network using the town’s backbone infrastructure; the town announced its public–private partnership in 

Regular City Council Meeting August 22, 2016 39



CTC Proposal 

8 

2015. For more details, see CTC’s website: http://www.ctcnet.us/blog/ctc-helps-position-holly-springs-
nc-to-attract-big-private-fiber-investment-through-smart-infrastructure-planning-and-best-business-
practices/ 

Kansas Statewide Broadband Initiative: CTC supported the Kansas Statewide Broadband Initiative (KSBI), 
a program of the Kansas Department of Commerce, in a major analysis of broadband availability and usage 
across the state. The scope of work included a broadband needs assessment of schools, libraries, and 
hospitals, completed in 2013, and two additional reports on the broadband market in the residential and 
commercial sectors. All three reports were delivered to the state legislature. 

Commonwealth of Kentucky: CTC recently completed a statewide project with the Commonwealth of 
Kentucky in which we provided consulting and planning 
services in support of the governor’s proposed statewide, 
next-generation fiber optic network.  

CTC engineers performed a technical assessment of the state’s 
current network plans, developed a strategy for fiber 
construction, and provided detailed guidance on network 
operations. Our business analysts assessed the state’s current 
network financial models, refined projections, and 
collaborated on the development of a sustainable governance 
and business model.  

CTC also developed an RFI to identify potential fiber 
collaborators for the Commonwealth. The RFI attracted 
responses from more than a dozen candidates—including 
service providers, technology companies, equity partners, and 
concessionaires—and made it possible for the CTC team to 
refine the Commonwealth’s business model and develop an 
RFP that more closely fit the business model and the firms’ 
capabilities. The Commonwealth announced a $250 million to 
$350 million concessionaire agreement with a private sector 
partner in December. 

Keystone Initiative for Network Based Education and Research (KINBER): CTC provided KINBER, a 
statewide fiber optic network in Pennsylvania and recipient of a $99.6 million federal grant, with extensive 
support in developing their business model and pricing schedule. Our team conducted interviews with 
KINBER project stakeholders to assess the statewide market for networking services. We combined this 
information with our existing, in-depth knowledge of public sector networking initiatives, markets, and 
pricing schedules. We then presented different business model scenarios based on varying take rates of 
the networking services offered. We gave preliminary marketing advice and conducted initial outreach on 
behalf of KINBER to potential new members. CTC also prepared engineering advice for how to cost-
effectively provide networking services.  

City of Lawrence, Kansas: CTC evaluated the state of broadband in Lawrence and proposed strategies for 
expanding network infrastructure to serve homes, businesses, and the public sector. In our project report, 
“Enhancing Broadband in Lawrence: A Range of Strategic Options,” we identified ways in which Lawrence 
can maximize its current assets to encourage future technology development. It analyzes the existing 

CTC recently completed a 
statewide project with the 

Commonwealth of Kentucky in 
which we provided consulting 

and planning services in 
support of the governor’s 
proposed statewide, next-

generation fiber optic 
network. The Commonwealth 
announced a $250 million to 
$350 million concessionaire 
agreement with a private 

sector partner in late 2014.

Regular City Council Meeting August 22, 2016 40

http://www.ctcnet.us/blog/ctc-helps-position-holly-springs-nc-to-attract-big-private-fiber-investment-through-smart-infrastructure-planning-and-best-business-practices/
http://www.ctcnet.us/blog/ctc-helps-position-holly-springs-nc-to-attract-big-private-fiber-investment-through-smart-infrastructure-planning-and-best-business-practices/
http://www.ctcnet.us/blog/ctc-helps-position-holly-springs-nc-to-attract-big-private-fiber-investment-through-smart-infrastructure-planning-and-best-business-practices/


CTC Proposal 

9 

communications environment in Lawrence and provides recommendations with respect to various 
options to leverage the City’s existing fiber optic infrastructure. (That report is available on our website: 
http://www.ctcnet.us/wp-content/uploads/2014/01/LawrenceBroadbandReport.pdf.) Following up on 
that engagement, we also recently evaluated issues and concerns for the City’s consideration as it 
evaluates whether to require open access on privately funded fiber in the City. 

Maryland Inter-County Broadband Network (ICBN): CTC was the lead engineer for the development of 
the ICBN project, a $72 million sub-grantee of the One Maryland Broadband Network (see below). We 
designed and engineered ICBN fiber routes for four large counties. In addition, a CTC Principal Engineer 
served as Portfolio Manager for the project across nine counties. He was the lead technical consultant 
overseeing the grant funds to build 800 miles of fiber optics and connect approximately 650 community 
anchor institutions.  

Commonwealth of Massachusetts: CTC President Joanne Hovis advises the Massachusetts Technology 
Cooperative on a wide range of broadband issues, including last-mile network deployment, business 
planning, and managing statewide stakeholder relationships. 

National Capital Region (NCR) Interoperability Program: CTC provided the concept, engineering design, 
and project management for the National Capital Region Interconnection Network—a 120-mile public 
safety network interconnecting 19 fiber-optic based government networks in the greater Washington, 
D.C. region. This network was conceived as a backbone for interoperable communications that could take 
advantage of existing fiber infrastructures the governments already controlled.  

State of New Mexico: CTC wrote a guidebook for New Mexico’s local governments to lead them through 
the business, financial, and strategic planning necessary to implement city- or county-owned broadband 
networks. We are currently engaged in developing a statewide strategic plan for deployment and 
adoption of broadband in the State, as well as in preparation of regional implementation plans. 

State of New York: CTC currently is designing New York State’s public–private partnership model—a key 
element in Governor Cuomo’s $500 million “Broadband for All” initiative, which aims to deliver 100 Mbps 
services to every home and business in the state. 

Government of New Zealand (Crown Fibre Holdings): CTC developed a reference architecture and 
technical guidelines for the New Zealand government’s open access Ultra-Fast Broadband initiative. The 
project included establishing requirements for vendors bidding on the design, construction, and operation 
of a planned nationwide fiber network that will connect at least 75 percent of the country’s population. 

One Maryland Broadband Network (OMBN): Working closely with the Maryland Department of 
Information Technology (DoIT), CTC provided strategic guidance and was the lead engineering and 
business planning consultant in conjunction with the development of OMBN’s successful $115 million 
federal grant application. Our services included network architecture, plant engineering, and detailed 
project preparation, with a focus on expanding the state’s existing fiber optic network to reach 
underserved areas and achieve other program goals. CTC also provided extensive business planning, 
business modeling, and pro forma preparation.  

City of Palo Alto: CTC engineers currently are supporting the City in developing a “dig once” ordinance 
and related processes. 

Regular City Council Meeting August 22, 2016 41

http://www.ctcnet.us/wp-content/uploads/2014/01/LawrenceBroadbandReport.pdf


CTC Proposal 

10 

In two parallel projects in 2015, CTC developed both a fiber-to-the-premises (FTTP) master plan and a 
wireless network plan for the City of Palo Alto. In the FTTP engagement, we worked with the City’s 
Information Technology and Utilities departments to research and prepare a strategic plan that outlines 
the feasibility of expanding the City’s existing fiber system to provide citywide FTTP. In the wireless 
engagement, conducted a system-level requirements analysis and a needs assessment, and 
recommending wireless technologies, network designs, and business models.  

CTC previously provided strategic guidance and advice to the City on expanding its dark fiber network to 
create opportunities for enhanced municipal and commercial services. We assessed how to leverage 
existing infrastructure to promote commercial wireless broadband deployment and improve municipal 
Smart Grid and public safety technologies. We also prepared a framework for establishing a public-private 
partnership to encourage greater infrastructure deployment. 

City of Raleigh: CTC recently completed a project with the City of Raleigh to develop a roadmap for 
meeting the City’s future networking needs. CTC engineers performed a technical assessment of the City’s 
network plans, developed a strategy for fiber construction, and providing detailed guidance on middle-
mile network operations. Our business analysts assessed the City’s current network financial models, 
refined those projections, and created a sustainable business model that will enable the city to capitalize 
on excess fiber to create revenue and other community benefits. CTC also supported the city on the 
completion of its Google Fiber Checklist. 

City and County of San Francisco: CTC currently is developing technical specifications for a municipal “dig 
once” policy to facilitate the cost-effective expansion of broadband infrastructure throughout the city. 

We previously prepared a series of path-breaking analyses of the feasibility of the City building and 
operating a fiber-to-the-premises (FTTP) network—including a system design and detailed analysis of 
candidate architectures and open access models. The project also included analysis of multiple business 
models and business recommendations customized for San Francisco’s unique circumstances.  

CTC also provided ongoing consulting and strategic guidance with respect to an FTTP pilot and related 
technology projects, and helped the City with business planning, financial analysis, and engineering design 
to support its preparation of an extensive application for federal grant funding. The market research 
analysis provided measurements to predict emission reductions and other ancillary benefits of facilitating 
work-at-home initiatives through an FTTP implementation. 

City of Seattle / Seattle City Light: CTC currently is supporting the city with business, technical, and 
strategic guidance as it explores options for FTTP network deployment in light of the changing national 
marketplace and emergence of new business models. 

This engagements follows on multiple significant projects we have completed with the city and its electric 
utility over the past six years. CTC has previously performed market research and developed a feasibility 
study, a business case analysis, and an “off-the-balance-sheet” benefits analysis for a proposed fiber 
network.  

The first study, “FTTP Municipal Broadband Risks and Benefits Evaluation,” included an internal needs 
analysis, market research of both residential and business customers; an assessment of competing 
services and technologies; and an evaluation of the business case and business risks.  

Regular City Council Meeting August 22, 2016 42



CTC Proposal 

11 

Following on that report, CTC researched and wrote an “FTTP Benefits Evaluation,” which explored the 
benefits of FTTP beyond the traditional balance sheet, including cost avoidance, monetary savings, and 
environmental impact. Notably, this report was one of the first of its kind to qualify and quantify (where 
possible) community-wide benefits of ubiquitous broadband connectivity such as enabling increased 
telecommuting, reductions in greenhouse gas emissions, and positive impacts on vulnerable populations 
such as the elderly and low-income residents. 

In the third phase of this project, CTC advised the Mayor of Seattle regarding the U.S. communications 
market and business planning strategies for a citywide fiber enterprise. CTC led and facilitated a business 
planning working group comprised of the Mayor’s senior staff, the directors of the City’s electric and 
water/sewer utilities, and the City’s Chief Technology Officer. 

Cities of Urbana and Champaign / University of Illinois: CTC has been the strategic and business planning 
consultant to Urbana, Champaign, and the University of Illinois for more than five years—since the 
coalition first conceived of constructing a middle-mile fiber network to connect community anchor 
institutions. We prepared the network’s successful federal Environmental Assessment, which enabled 
construction to begin. Following construction of the federally funded middle-mile project, we wrote a 
request for information (RFI) to enable the cities and the university to identify a private partner that would 
finance and operate an FTTx expansion of the network to serve 100 percent of the community. We 
evaluated potential partners’ proposals, then helped to negotiate with two partners to reduce the 
community’s risks and ensure that a partnership will achieve the coalition’s policy goals for economic 
development and digital inclusion. 

As a result of the coalition’s final partnership—which Telecompetitor has called “a particularly good deal 
for the community”8—UC2B has secured an open access Gigabit FTTx network buildout that will protect 
its public policy interest by providing the same opportunity for access to the entire community. In return, 
UC2B’s partner—the ISP and network operator iTV3—gets value through access to UC2B’s existing middle-
mile infrastructure (which it will operate) and the foundation of a significant last-mile consumer network. 

Commenting on the partnership, FCC Chairman Wheeler said that it “provides a valuable model for 
communities and companies throughout the country and a demonstration of the creativity that is 
stimulated when localities are free to work with the private sector to improve broadband offerings.”9 

City of Vallejo, California: CTC recently was awarded a contract by the City to develop a fiber optic master 
plan to guide the feasibility, long-term planning, budgeting and implementation of a municipal broadband 
network. In our technical analysis and planning, we will conduct a detailed investigation of the City’s 
existing conduit. And in our business planning tasks, we will focus on serving commercial customers—and 
on a model that will be self-funding over time. 

City of Westminster, Maryland: CTC prepared a fiber feasibility study and business case for the City of 
Westminster in 2012 and 2013. Our report, which focused on maximizing available backbone network 
connectivity, included a technical design and cost estimates for two last-mile FTTP pilot projects (one 
focused on residential customers, one focused on businesses).  

8 http://www.telecompetitor.com/urbana-champaign-gigabit-network-will-open-access/  
9 http://www.fcc.gov/document/fcc-chairman-tom-wheeler-stmt-uc2b-and-itv-3-gigabit-announcement 

Regular City Council Meeting August 22, 2016 43

http://www.telecompetitor.com/urbana-champaign-gigabit-network-will-open-access/
http://www.fcc.gov/document/fcc-chairman-tom-wheeler-stmt-uc2b-and-itv-3-gigabit-announcement


CTC Proposal 

12 

Following the City’s decision to move forward with the pilot projects, CTC is currently providing support 
on a range of fiber infrastructure engineering, network design, construction oversight, and quality 
assurance tasks.  

We also assisted the city in identifying a private partner to assume operating risk in providing services to 
the public over the City’s FTTP infrastructure; the city announced its public–private partnership in mid-
January. For more details, see CTC’s website: http://www.ctcnet.us/blog/maryland-city-announces-
groundbreaking-fiber-partnership-with-ting-internet/. 

References 
We invite you to contact the following references about the quality, independence, and timeliness of 
CTC’s work. Many additional references are available on request. 

City and County of San Francisco 
Mr. Brian Roberts 
Senior Policy Analyst, Department of Telecommunications & Information Services 
(415) 581-4061, brian.roberts@sfgov.org  

City of Seattle  
Mr. Tony Perez 
Director, Office of Cable Communications 
(206) 386-0070, Tony.Perez@Seattle.gov  

City of Palo Alto, California 
Mr. Jim Fleming 
Management Specialist 
(650) 566-4586, Jim.Fleming@CityofPaloAlto.org 

Town of Holly Springs, North Carolina 
Mr. Jeff Wilson 
IT Director 
(919) 567-4013, jeff.wilson@hollyspringsnc.us 

City of Westminster, Maryland 
Dr. Robert Wack 
Common Council President 
(443) 340-3227, rwack1@comcast.net 

Regular City Council Meeting August 22, 2016 44

http://www.ctcnet.us/blog/maryland-city-announces-groundbreaking-fiber-partnership-with-ting-internet/
http://www.ctcnet.us/blog/maryland-city-announces-groundbreaking-fiber-partnership-with-ting-internet/
mailto:brian.roberts@sfgov.org
mailto:Tony.Perez@Seattle.gov
mailto:Jim.Fleming@CityofPaloAlto.org
mailto:jeff.wilson@hollyspringsnc.us
mailto:rwack1@comcast.net


CTC Proposal 

13 

2. Project Team
Our primary team members for this project will be the following. Complete resumes for each staff member 
are attached in Appendix A below. 

Joanne Hovis, CTC’s President and Director of Business 
Consulting, will be the City’s primary contact throughout the 
project, and will lead all strategic and business planning tasks. 
An attorney who has provided network business model 
analysis and recommendations for some of the largest public 
broadband networks in the country, she is a recognized 
authority on the broadband market and community 
broadband topics—and on the evolving role of government in 
the provision of communications services to the public. Ms. 
Hovis has extensive experience developing business case and 
business model scenarios for public sector broadband 
initiatives, and is also CEO of the Coalition for Local Internet 
Choice (http://www.localnetchoice.org/). Ms. Hovis leads the 
CTC team that advises the states of Kentucky, Massachusetts, 
New Mexico, and New York, the cities of San Francisco, 
Seattle, and Washington, D.C., and the statewide broadband 
networks in Colorado, Maryland, and Pennsylvania. 

Andrew Afflerbach, Ph.D., P.E., CTC’s Director of Engineering, will oversee all technical research and 
analysis. A licensed Professional Engineer, Dr. Afflerbach has developed institutional networks for cities 
and counties, has overseen the build-out of last-mile fiber networks, and works extensively on regional 
fiber and wireless public safety networks. He is an experienced network planner who understands the 
business and financial implications of various network designs. He led the CTC team that developed a 
reference architecture and technical guidelines for the New Zealand government’s open access FTTP 
initiative—a project that included establishing requirements for vendors bidding on the design, 
construction, and operation of a planned nationwide fiber network that will connect at least 75 percent 
of the country’s population. 

Tom Asp, MBA, a CTC Principal Engineer and Analyst, will lead all financial analysis tasks. He is regarded 
as one of the premier analysts in the United States in the field of municipal planning and deployment of 
broadband systems to meet economic development, digital inclusion, and other needs. Mr. Asp has more 
than 25 years of nationwide experience as an engineer and analyst in communications and public power 
systems. His experience includes telecommunication system design and evaluation of network feasibility. 
Mr. Asp has developed financial statements and prepared quantitative business plan analyses for 
numerous municipal and utility clients nationwide and is widely recognized as an expert in municipal 
broadband business and strategic planning. Mr. Asp has served as lead for more than 100 local 
government broadband projects during his career—both with CTC and, previously, as a partner at the 
public accounting firm Baker Tilley—and brings a wealth of practical fiber optic business planning 
experience to his projects.  

Matthew DeHaven, a CTC Principal Engineer, is currently managing the deployment of an FTTP pilot 
initiative in Westminster, Maryland—the first step in what will become a public-private partnership with 
Ting Internet to provide service throughout the city. Over the past three years, he served as the Portfolio 

Joanne Hovis is a recognized 
authority on municipal 

broadband business models. 
She leads the CTC team that 

advises the states of New 
Mexico, New York, Kentucky, 
and Massachusetts, the cities 
of San Francisco, Seattle, and 

Washington, D.C., and the 
statewide broadband 
networks in Colorado, 

Maryland, and Pennsylvania.

Regular City Council Meeting August 22, 2016 45

http://www.localnetchoice.org/


CTC Proposal 

14 

Manager for the Maryland Inter-County Broadband Network (ICBN) project, overseeing $72 million in 
grant funds to build 800 miles of fiber optics and connect approximately 650 community anchor 
institutions, including schools, libraries, government buildings, and public safety agencies. 

Charlie Hamm, a CTC GIS Specialist and Staff Engineer, works with a range of geographic design 
programs—including AutoCAD, ESRI ArcGIS, Google Earth, Microsoft Streets and Trips, and Quantum 
GIS—to enable large-scale network design and construction projects, as well as to illustrate geographic 
data for feasibility studies. He creates databases and maps to support network route planning, utility pole 
attachment, and permit application processes. 

Marc Schulhof, a CTC Senior Analyst and Technical Writer, has more than 20 years of experience in 
technical writing, financial journalism, and public and corporate communications. Prior to joining CTC, 
Marc was the worldwide editor-in-chief of CIO program websites at IBM.  

Eric Wirth, a CTC Senior Engineer, specializes in the evaluation of telecommunications networks. For 
example, he designed and implemented a fiber optic network for Norwich (Connecticut) Public Utilities. 
The project consisted of developing detailed fiber optic route design and cost estimates, network 
electronic design, and cost estimates, and a request for proposals (RFP) for Norwich’s use in selecting a 
contractor to complete the installation. 

Regular City Council Meeting August 22, 2016 46



CTC Proposal 

15 

3. Scope of Work
We understand that the cities of Mt. Shasta, Weed, and Dunsmuir (“the Cities”) seek to develop a strategic 
and business plan for the potential deployment of a fiber-to-the-premises (FTTP) network with a private 
partner.  

We are proud of the strategic, technological, and business planning advice we have provided dozens of 
cities as they have explored the feasibility of implementing or expanding government-owned broadband 
utilities. Our success as consultants comes down to the fact that we do not minimize our assessment of 
costs or risks; nor do we make unreasonable assumptions about revenue factors.  

We will be the Cities’ trusted adviser throughout this engagement, and will deliver an independent 
strategic and business plan that will guide the Cities’ future steps. 

Task 1: Conduct On-Site Strategy Session 
As a preliminary step, we will conduct a full-day, on-site strategy session. Our project team will meet with 
the Cities’ personnel to discuss project goals and objectives, review relevant maps and documents, 
establish project parameters, and address the project team’s primary questions and concerns.  

The strategy session will enable us to understand the Cities’ long-term vision and expected timeline. We 
will also seek guidance on any potential hurdles or areas of concern, as well as insight into existing 
broadband service availability and the Cities’ knowledge of the incumbents’ plans for future expansion.  

We also view the strategy session as an opportunity to present an overview of relevant case studies and 
best practices in public sector dark fiber, broadband, and FTTP; discuss funding and financing issues; and 
explain the evolution of public–private broadband partnerships and business models—a topic in which 
we offer unparalleled expertise. 

Specific agenda items will include: 

 Identify project stakeholders

 Review project vision, goals, and objectives

 Review project schedule, key milestones, and deliverables

 Review perceived project strengths and weakness from the Cities’ perspective

 Review Cities’ existing network infrastructure and planned upgrades

 Review potential funding opportunities and sources

 Explore public–private partnerships and other likely business models

 Discuss framework for implementation roadmap

 Discuss the potential impact of competition from incumbent operators and new technologies

 Identify target FTTP construction and service areas (with a focus on a phased implementation)

Regular City Council Meeting August 22, 2016 47



CTC Proposal 

16 

 Review potential users and markets for new and enhanced connectivity capabilities enabled by

FTTP, including:

o Telecommuters
o Business segments (needs by type and size)
o Cottage industries supported by economic development
o Home use (personal and business)
o Education (e.g., increased capabilities and access in students’ homes)
o Multi-dwelling units (collaboration and partnership opportunities)
o Industrial and business parks

 Review project schedule, key milestones, and deliverables

Task 2: Prepare Competitive Assessment of Incumbent Services  
We will identify and analyze the services and prices offered by the Cities’ current incumbent providers. 
This competitive assessment will inform our business planning tasks. 

Please note that with some services, it is not possible for a provider to guarantee service availability at a 
given location due to circuit quality, circuit loading, and other attributes. These providers often depict 
availability as a probability of getting service in a given zone. The provider will identify the total number 
of circuits in a given zone, and the total potential number of circuits that might support the broadband 
offering. At times the provider will share this information, and other times they will not.  

Task 3: Evaluate Community and City Needs 
To define and assess community broadband needs—including business, residential, and internal City 
needs—we will interview up to six key stakeholders or groups of stakeholders identified and invited by 
the Cities. We request that the Cities schedule the potential participants and provide sufficient meeting 
facilities; we anticipate conducting these meetings over the course of two days following our strategy 
session (Task 1).  

During the interviews, we will be asking questions from a short survey/interview instrument to assist in 
guiding the discussions. The goal of the interactive discussions is to: 

 Determine anticipated level of support from stakeholders

 Elicit and discuss stakeholder needs for services that can be offered over a broadband network

 Solicit feedback from stakeholders on policy, potential business models, and technology

 Receive feedback from stakeholders on any other aspects of the project

Interviews provide qualitative data that can assist in projecting future requirements and reactions to 
various “what if” scenarios.  

We will summarize the results of each interview session in regard to participants’ levels of support, their 
alignment with the Cities’ vision, their drivers and motivations to participate, and their suggestions for 
policies, insights regarding business models, questions, and comments regarding technology. Discussion 
topics include, but are not limited to, the following: 

Regular City Council Meeting August 22, 2016 48



CTC Proposal 

17 

 What types of connectivity and broadband services do the stakeholders currently use?

 What limitations do the stakeholders see in their current situation?

 What are their expectations for current and future high-speed needs, and how well does their
current provider meet these needs?

 How aware are respondents of current high-speed options?

 What applications do the stakeholders currently use and plan to use in the future?

Task 4: Develop High-Level Design and Cost Estimates for FTTP Network  
Based on the parameters established during our kick-off meeting, CTC engineers will develop a system-
level design and high-level capital and operating cost estimates for the construction and operation of fiber 
infrastructure in the Cities. We will include in our design the technical elements that we deem necessary 
to achieve the Cities’ goals, and will develop a preliminary timeline that estimates the Cities’ potential 
time for construction and service implementation.  

To survey candidate fiber routes and develop cost estimates, and to identify the most efficient and 
effective way to connect the Cities’ existing infrastructure to these new routes, CTC engineers will perform 
onsite inspections of candidate fiber routing, including examination of any existing conduit and fiber 
resources. We will identify least-cost routing for a range of potential fiber topologies, and will consider 
construction and design practices to minimize overall cost, including planning construction in conjunction 
with capital improvements in the rights-of-way (e.g., road work, sidewalk replacement).  

We will develop high-level cost estimates on a baseline set of fiber routes, and identify incremental costs 
for enhancing construction methodology to include additional conduit capacity and access points to 
facilitate reduced-cost construction for potential future expansion and site additions. We will also identify 
areas of risk and a likely range of costs and schedules. 

To be clear, we will not be providing a blueprint-level network design. Rather, we will be providing a 
conceptual design, high-level maps, and a system-level overview of the potential infrastructure—which in 
turn will become a roadmap for future decisions, including detailed engineering and contracting with 
private sector service providers. 

Task 5: Develop Business Plan for Candidate Network 
As we have done for public sector broadband networks nationwide, we will develop pro forma data for 
the Cities’ broadband network operations based on the system-level design and the cost estimates for 
expansion. This high-level financial model for the Cities’ proposed fiber construction will take into account 
a range of likely costs, including:  

 Financing

 Operations

 Fiber maintenance

We will outline operational attributes and processes including policies, staffing levels, maintenance 
agreements, and other considerations. Particular attention will be paid to back-office and other operating 
requirements, as well as working capital projections.  

Regular City Council Meeting August 22, 2016 49



CTC Proposal 

18 

The model will include an overall analysis of viable potential services and will provide: 

 Sensitivities of key assumptions including, but not limited to:
o Customer segmentation
o Market penetration
o Pricing
o Tiered revenue structures
o Operating fees
o System construction
o Staffing levels

• Base, best, and worst-case analysis

The pro forma will follow accounting standards and will provide schedules that detail: 

 Operating income and cash flow

 Net present value analysis

 Subscriber revenue by service

 Subscriber revenue by customer/customer class

 Debt service analysis

 Reserve fund requirements

 Uses and sources of funds

 Operating expenses

 Operational savings

 Depreciation summary

 Projected construction costs for network, hardware, buildings and other equipment

 Return on investment (ROI)

We will also prepare specific recommendations on market positioning, marketing strategies, and 
product/service development, including: 

• Recommendations and analysis of the opportunities
o Ascertain the telecom industry’s plans to expand or upgrade, if any
o Describe the current competitive dynamic within the telecom industry and its impact on the

operations of the Cities’ network
o Describe availability gaps (geographic)
o Identify affordability gaps (economic)
o Identify performance gaps (bandwidth, other)

• Description of the potential benefits for economic development

• Description of the potential use and benefits of the Cities’ network for public safety

• Estimates of anticipated subscriber take rates
o What impact does pricing have?

Regular City Council Meeting August 22, 2016 50



CTC Proposal 

 

 

19 

o What are the perceived performance requirements? How do these fit with the capabilities of 
wireless? 

o What are the attributes that will impact a given consumer’s decision? 
 
All of our assumptions and price sensitivities will be clearly stated and justified. This financial model will 
provide the Cities with an order-of-magnitude estimate of the overall project cost, and will support the 
implementation and funding roadmap by providing inputs for potential business models, funding options, 
and partnering opportunities.  

Task 6: Examine Range of Network Business Models and Funding Mechanisms  
Our report will consider a range of business models and funding options that might support the Cities’ 
next steps and inform an implementation roadmap. Our business models, which will focus on public–
private partnerships, will reflect our understanding of the Cities’ desired roles and risk tolerances.  

Business Models 
We will bring to this engagement our experience in identifying the challenges of municipal network 
expansion in general, and FTTP implementation in particular—and our realistic approach to assessing 
project risks. We will be very frank about the level of funding needed for various levels of network 
expansion, and about the trade-offs among risk, benefits, and network control in various partnership 
approaches.  
 
Over the past 15 years, we have seen communities raise public expectations very high before clearly 
understanding the challenges of FTTP financial models. This can be very disappointing to the public and 
politically challenging in the event that it does not work out. We will help you moderate public 
expectations and bring a dose of reality to the plans. 
 
Notably, we have singular experience in developing broadband public–private partnerships on behalf of 
public sector clients. CTC supported the Commonwealth of Kentucky in developing and negotiating its 
$250 million to $350 million P3 concessionaire agreement. For both the Town of Holly Springs, North 
Carolina, and the City of Westminster, Maryland, we assisted the municipal governments in identifying a 
private partner to assume operating risk in providing services to the public under two significantly 
different partnership models, each aligned with the unique needs of these communities. We have also 
provided broadband P3 strategic and technical consulting to the City of Santa Cruz, California, the Village 
of Bald Head Island, North Carolina, and other cities nationwide. 

Funding Mechanisms  
Public sector network expansions, especially FTTP initiatives, reflect both an ambitious vision and, often, 
a public commitment to financing broadband access for all citizens. Many municipalities have pursued 
grant funding, taken out bonds, or otherwise sought funding for construction of publicly owned fiber 
networks. 
 
Our goal in this task is to help the Cities develop realistic approaches to funding and financing. Our report 
will examine other viable options. And we will focus on demonstrating the business case as a means of 
working with the State, local organizations, or private partners under a range of these models.  
 
We will draw on our hands-on knowledge of broadband funding opportunities and our research 
capabilities in this area to identify and compile a detailed list of potential funding opportunities for the 

Regular City Council Meeting August 22, 2016 51



CTC Proposal 

20 

Cities to consider. To the extent possible, we will “rank” these opportunities in terms of the likeliness that 
they for successful funding.  

We note, too, that many municipalities have decided that the benefits of supporting an FTTP network 
outweigh the financial costs. Those jurisdictions have examined an FTTP network’s potential “benefits 
beyond the balance sheet” and determined that ubiquitous high-speed broadband has such value that it 
should be considered a public good, like water or electricity, and made available to all residents.  

Task 7: Identify and Analyze Potential Partners 
CTC is closely connected to current efforts by many cities and counties to enlist private sector partners 
for broadband services. Three of our clients have successfully signed partnership agreements for FTTP 
expansion and service delivery; others are in the process of identifying a qualified partner. For each of 
these public sector network owners, we helped develop a request for information (RFI) and guide them 
through the process of evaluating the RFI responses and negotiating with the finalists. We have a strong 
sense of the types of partners to prioritize for potential discussions, and the type of benefits that might 
accrue to the community from a partnership. 

Based on the Cities’ stated interest, CTC will assist the Cities with the following tasks: 

 Performing a preliminary screen and identification of suitable potential partners, based on
criteria developed together with the Cities.

 Identifying the respective roles for the Cities and a potential private sector partner.

 Developing the requirements for and writing an RFI or request for proposals (RFP) that, when
published, will solicit responses from qualified potential partners.

 Identifying private sector partners. CTC will analyze responses that the Cities receive as a result
of its RFI/RFP, and will prepare a memo that provides a detailed overview of the respondents, a
recommended partner, and our rationale for the selection.

Following that, we would also be available to help with a range of other potential tasks, to be billed at our 
standard hourly rates. These tasks include, but are not limited to:  

 Analysis of additional private partner proposals

 Support in negotiations with potential private partners

 Financial analysis of business elements of the potential partners’ proposals

 Analysis of the viability and track record of the potential partners

 Assistance with due diligence, including speaking with other communities that have worked with
or negotiated with the potential partners

 Analysis and vetting of the viability of the partners’ proposed technologies

Task 8: Prepare Final Report and Present Recommendations 
Our final deliverable will be a comprehensive strategic and business plan, including a succinct summary 
that presents our key findings and recommendations. The report will include the results and our analysis 
of all of the assessments and research conducted throughout the project. 

Regular City Council Meeting August 22, 2016 52



CTC Proposal 

21 

Our written report will include a clear and concise narrative supported by charts, tables, graphics, and 
maps. We will attribute and provide sourcing for our research. The study will include our analysis of 
several business models, as well as a high-level financial model and network design.  

The report will present both an analysis of feasibility and, based on those findings, an action plan for next 
steps in terms of financing and an implementation timeline. As we noted above, we will not minimize our 
assessment of costs or risks; nor will we make unreasonable assumptions about revenue factors such as 
take rates and service fees.  

Our strategic plan may thus include recommendations related to considering pilot projects, issuing a 
request for information (RFI) to identify potential partners, developing more detailed network designs 
and cost estimates, or other steps that we believe the Cities should consider.  

We will provide the Cities’ identified reviewers with an electronic draft of our report for initial review. We 
will incorporate the reviewers’ feedback and edits within two weeks of receipt, and will deliver an 
electronic version of our final report. We will also conduct a presentation of the report and our 
recommendations via WebEx at a time to be selected with the Cities. 

Regular City Council Meeting August 22, 2016 53



CTC Proposal 

22 

4. Project Cost and Hourly Rates
CTC proposes to perform the tasks described in the scope of work above for a not-to-exceed cost of 
$100,000, inclusive of all expenses including travel. This total cost, to be split among the three Cities, 
represents the significant project efficiencies created by performing these tasks simultaneously for all 
three cities (as compared to pursuing three separate engagements).   

We will bill our work (as well as any additional work requested by the Cities, such as the potential follow-
on support described in Task 7) at the following hourly rates: 

Labor Category Rate 

Director of Business Consulting / Engineering $170 

Principal Analyst / Engineer $160 

Senior Project Analyst / Engineer $150 

Senior Analyst / Engineer $140 

Staff Analyst / Engineer $130 

Communications / Engineer Aide $ 75 

CTC’s billing rates are inclusive of all routine expenses including administrative, accounting, and computer 
support, telephone calls, and photocopying. Non-routine expenses and long-distance travel are recovered 
at direct cost with no mark-up. Please note that CTC reserves the right to reallocate funds among task and 
staff categories so long as the total cost is not exceeded. Payment is due within thirty (30) days of invoice. 

Regular City Council Meeting August 22, 2016 54



CTC Proposal 

23 

Appendix A: Team Resumes 

Joanne S. Hovis, Esq. | President and Director of Business Consulting 

Joanne Hovis is President of CTC. She is an attorney and business planner with a two-decade background 
in communications and broadband. Ms. Hovis is a recognized authority on the broadband market and 
community broadband topics—and on the evolving role of government in the provision of 
communications services to the public. 

Ms. Hovis leads the CTC team that advises the states of New Mexico and Kansas; the cities of San 
Francisco, Washington, D.C., and Seattle; the American Recovery and Reinvestment Act (ARRA) funded 
UC2B (Champaign and Urbana, Illinois) and ICBN (central Maryland) networks; and the statewide 
broadband networks in Colorado, Maryland, and Pennsylvania. She advises the University of Illinois, Case 
Western Reserve University, and a number of other institutions regarding broadband planning.  

Ms. Hovis also oversees all ongoing CTC research and analysis for local government clients and frequently 
provides business planning and analysis for communications networking initiatives such as San Francisco’s 
planned fiber network and the public safety communications network currently under development in 
the Washington, D.C. metropolitan area. She also leads CTC’s consulting on the federal E-Rate and 
Healthcare Connect Fund programs. 

Ms. Hovis serves as Immediate Past President of the National Association of Telecommunications Officers 
and Advisors (NATOA), which represents local governments and promotes community interests in 
communications matters. She is a member of the boards of directors of the Benton Foundation, the Fiber 
to the Home Council, and OneCommunity, and is a charter member of the United States Unified 
Community Anchor Network (U.S. UCAN) project’s Task Force on Community Anchor Network Economic 
Models. She is also CEO of the Coalition for Local Internet Choice (CLIC). 

Ms. Hovis previously worked as an attorney with Jenner & Block in Chicago and Mintz, Levin, Cohn, Ferris, 
Glovsky, & Popeo PC in Washington, D.C. At those firms, she worked on complex communications and 
litigation projects for such clients as Salomon Brothers and AOL. 

Business Planning and Feasibility Analysis 
Ms. Hovis leads all of CTC’s business planning efforts. She has spearheaded projects that explore a range 
of business models by which government clients can leverage their existing assets to build, expand, and 
incentivize broadband expansion. She is sought nationwide as an expert in municipal ownership and 
operational broadband business models, fiber and wireless markets, and public–private partnerships. 
Among the projects she has led are: 

 City of Seattle. Ms. Hovis advised the Mayor of Seattle regarding the U.S. communications market
and business planning strategies for a citywide enterprise. She reported the public subsidies a
network would require, and delivered a full assessment of opportunities and risks. The report
included internal needs analysis, statistically significant market research, an assessment of
competing services and technologies, and an evaluation of the business case and financial risks.
Ms. Hovis led further analysis of the benefits of FTTP beyond the traditional balance sheet. She
led and facilitated a business planning working group comprised of the Mayor’s senior staff, the
directors of the city’s two utilities (electric and water/sewer), and the city’s CIO.

Regular City Council Meeting August 22, 2016 55



CTC Proposal 

24 

 Ms. Hovis advises the State of New Mexico’s Department of Information Technology on
broadband planning. She led a team of writers and analysts that produced a guidebook for New
Mexico’s local governments to guide them through the business, financial, and strategic planning
necessary to implement city- or county-owned broadband networks. The book-length guidebook
offers specific instructions for localities to research and document the telecommunications
infrastructure in their communities, and discusses strategies for exploring public–private
partnerships for broadband expansion.

 Ms. Hovis is working with the State of Kansas Department of Commerce on a large-scale needs
assessment of the state’s network infrastructure. She is conducting major market surveys among
three core sectors across the state (residents, businesses, and community anchor institutions) to
evaluate the current uses and needs of broadband infrastructure. She is also developing a strategy
for the evolution of Kan-ed, the state-created broadband program that serves schools, hospitals,
libraries, and higher education institutions.

 Ms. Hovis has advised officials in the District of Columbia government on a range of
telecommunications and fiber-optic projects for almost a decade. She worked with the Office of
the Chief Technology Officer (OCTO) to create a business plan and strategy for building a municipal
fiber-optic network with a wireless overlay in the least-served wards of the city. She performed a
business case and technology analysis (including five-year projections) for DC-Net, a fiber-optic
telecommunications network that provides voice and data services for the District of Columbia.
She analyzed governmental, educational, and public safety uses of the network. The project tasks
included asset mapping and network description; developing a cost comparison to
leased/managed services; identifying opportunities to resell to other entities; identifying support
mechanisms; and determining recommended business practices. She performs an ongoing role as
strategic fiber adviser to the Chief Technology Officer and the Director of DC-Net, and supports
planning for the network’s future—including expanding the network to a broader array of end
users.

 Ms. Hovis advises the Urbana-Champaign Big Broadband (UC2B) Coalition (University of Illinois
and the cities of Champaign and Urbana) on a wide range of business and strategic planning
issues. She is currently evaluating the private sector bids to build out last-mile fiber connections
in the cities. She took a leading role in preparing UC2B’s successful application for a federal
Broadband Technology Opportunities Program (BTOP) stimulus grant to support its proposed
FTTP network.

 Ms. Hovis provided extensive business planning, market assessment, and strategic planning for
the City and County of San Francisco. Ms. Hovis served as a key adviser to the city’s Chief
Information Officer. She conducted an independent evaluation of the feasibility of San Francisco
constructing and operating a municipal FTTP network to serve businesses and residences. As a
first step toward the FTTP network, she worked with the City to plan a migration of the leased
telecommunications services connecting 250 government facilities to a City middle-mile fiber-
optic network; she also supported the city’s application for BTOP funding. She reviewed cost and
pricing factors associated with using leased telecommunications services and circuits provided by
private vendors, as compared with migration to government-owned fiber optics. She projected
the return on investment and total cost of ownership (including a wide range of costs from
deployment to staffing to maintenance to financing to cutover expenses). She evaluated potential
efficiencies to be realized through in-house rather than outsourced provision of services and
circuits.

Grant Planning & Management 
Ms. Hovis’ expertise includes the many funding opportunities available to local government broadband 

Regular City Council Meeting August 22, 2016 56



CTC Proposal 

25 

planners through the federal government and other sources. She has guided clients through the grant 
process, from application writing to fund management.  
Ms. Hovis’ grant work has included: 

 Supporting more than a dozen clients in securing American Recovery and Reinvestment Act
(ARRA) funds through the Broadband Technology Opportunities Program (BTOP). Successful
applicants included including the $22.5 million Urbana-Champaign Big Broadband (UC2B) project,
the $115 million One Maryland Broadband Network (OMBN), the $32.1 million OpenCape project
in Cape Cod, and Washington, D.C.’s $17.5 million Community Access Network (DC-CAN).

 Securing additional National Telecommunications & Information Administration (NTIA) funds
from the Public Safety Interoperable Communications (PSIC) grant program on behalf of public
health and public safety communications projects in the National Capital Region (NCR).

 Providing business case development and ongoing business planning support to significant Urban
Areas Security Initiative (UASI) grant-funded projects in the NCR.

Speaking and Advocacy 
Ms. Hovis is in wide demand as a speaker and expert source on broadband deployment issues. She has 
testified before the U.S. Congress on matters of broadband deployment and policy; has been interviewed 
by publications including Business Week, the Washington Post, and the Baltimore Sun; and has been 
featured on the C-SPAN show “The Communicators.” She has provided expert presentations to the 
Federal Communications Commission, National League of Cities, the University of Illinois, Case Western 
Reserve University, the New America Foundation, and the Congressional Internet Caucus.  

Ms. Hovis recently authored “The Emerging World of Broadband Public–Private Partnerships: A Business 
Strategy and Legal Guide” (published by the Benton Foundation). She is also author of “Gigabit 
Communities: Technical Strategies for Facilitating Public or Private Broadband Construction in Your 
Community”—an independent report sponsored by Google (available on CTC’s website). 

EDUCATION 
Juris Doctor, with honors, University of Chicago Law School, 1994  
Bachelor of Arts, with distinction, University of Wisconsin, Madison, 1990 

PROFESSIONAL CERTIFICATIONS/LICENSES 
Member of Illinois Bar Association, Member of District of Columbia Bar Association 

ORGANIZATIONS 

 Coalition for Local Internet Choice, CEO

 National Association of Telecommunications Officers and Advisors, Immediate Past President

 Benton Foundation, Director

 Fiber to the Home Council, Director

 OneCommunity, Director

 United States Unified Community Anchor Network, Task Force on Community Anchor Network
Economic Models, Charter Member

PRIOR TO COMING TO CTC IN 1997 
1996–1997 Litigation/Communications Attorney, Mintz, Levin, Cohn, Ferris, Glovsky, & Popeo P.C. 
1994–1996 Litigation Attorney, Jenner & Block 

Regular City Council Meeting August 22, 2016 57



CTC Proposal 

26 

Andrew Afflerbach, Ph.D., P.E. | CEO and Director of Engineering 

Dr. Andrew Afflerbach specializes in planning, design, and implementation of communications 
infrastructure and networks. His expertise includes emerging fiber and wireless technologies and state-
of-the-art networking applications.  

As Director of Engineering, he oversees all engineering work performed by CTC Technology & Energy. He 
is a licensed Professional Engineer in the Commonwealth of Virginia and the states of Delaware, Maryland, 
and Illinois. 

Dr. Afflerbach has planned and overseen implementation of a wide variety of government and public 
safety networks, including the infrastructure of state and metropolitan area governments. He prepared 
extensive technical analyses for submission to the Federal Communications Commission (FCC) and 
policymakers on national fiber expansion to underserved schools and libraries, on due diligence for the IP 
transition of the telecommunications infrastructure, and on potential technical frameworks for wireless 
network neutrality. He also served as a senior adviser to Crown Fibre Holdings, the public entity that is 
directing New Zealand’s national fiber-to-the-home project.  

Broadband Planning and Engineering 
Dr. Afflerbach has architected, designed, and overseen implementation of numerous broadband networks 
for local and state governments, including those of Washington, D.C.; Crown Fibre Holdings (Government 
of New Zealand); San Francisco; the Delaware Department of Transportation; the Maryland 
Transportation Authority; St. Louis Park, Minnesota; and many large counties. He oversaw the 
development of system level broadband designs and construction cost estimates for several cities 
including Seattle, Palo Alto, Madison, and Boulder, as well as for the states of Kentucky and Connecticut. 
He is overseeing the design of the city-built fiber-to-the-premises network in Westminster, Maryland. 

Advisory Services  
Dr. Afflerbach advises a wide range of policy think tanks, U.S. federal agencies, and non-profits regarding 
the engineering issues underlying key communications issues. For example, he:  

 Leads the technical team conducting FirstNet planning for the District of Columbia.

 Provided expert testimony to the U.S. Federal Communications Commission (FCC) in the matter
of the preparation of the national broadband plan as a representative of the National Association
of Counties (NACo) and the National Association of Telecommunications Officers & Advisors
(NATOA).

 Served as expert advisor regarding broadband deployment to the U.S. Conference of Mayors,
NACo, National League of Cities, Public Knowledge, New America Foundation Open Technology
Institute, and NATOA in those organizations’ filings before the FCC in the matter of determination
of the deployment of a national, interoperable wireless network in the 700 MHz spectrum.

 In connection with the FCC’s ongoing Open Internet proceeding, advised the New America
Foundation regarding the technical pathways by which “any device” and “any application”
regimes could be achieved in the wireless broadband arena as they have been in the wireline area.

 Provided expert technical witness reports for municipal parties in litigation regarding a large
commercial carrier’s failure to complete construction of a citywide fiber network in a major North
American city.

 Provided expert technical advice on the 700 MHz broadband and AWS-3 proceedings at the FCC
for the Public Interest Spectrum Coalition.

Regular City Council Meeting August 22, 2016 58



CTC Proposal 

 

 

27 

 Prepared technical reports and analysis regarding fiber construction for submittal to the FCC, in 
connection with preparation of the National Broadband Plan, by NATOA, the City and County of 
San Francisco, and the Schools, Health, and Libraries Coalition.  

 Served as technical advisor to the Naval Exchange in its evaluation of vendors’ broadband 
communications services on U.S. Navy bases worldwide. 

 Advised the U.S. Internal Revenue Service regarding the history of broadband and cable 
deployment and related technical issues in that agency’s evaluation of appropriate regulations for 
those industries. 

 Advised, during the height of the broadband “open access” debate, a variety of public interest 
associations and communities, including the City of Los Angeles and Stanford University, regarding 
the technical means by which cable networks could be opened to competition.  

 Advised the Stanford Law School Center for Internet and Society on the technical issues for their 
briefs in the Brand X Supreme Court appeal regarding cable broadband.  

 Provided technical advice to numerous non-profits, associations, and agencies as diverse as the 
Center for Internet and Society at Stanford Law School; the Internal Revenue Service, the Alliance 
for Community Media, the William Penn Foundation, the Center for Digital Democracy, and the 
FCC’s Local and State Government Advisory Board (LSGAC).  

 Has been invited to speak about communications technologies before such organizations as the 
Public Technology Institute, American Association of Community Colleges, ICMA, ILCMA, and the 
Practicing Law Institute. 

Public Safety Network Interoperability and Interconnection 
Dr. Afflerbach served as lead engineer and technical architect for planning and development of NCRnet, 
a regional fiber-optic and microwave network that links public safety and emergency support users 
throughout the 19 jurisdictions of the National Capital Region (Washington, D.C. and surrounding 
jurisdictions), under a grant from the U.S. Department for Homeland Security’s Urban Areas Safety 
Initiative. He wrote the initial feasibility studies that led to this regional network interconnection project.  
 
Smart Grid  
Dr. Afflerbach and the CTC team provided expert testimony and advisory services to the Public Service 
Commission of Maryland regarding Advanced Metering Infrastructure (AMI). CTC provided objective 
guidance to the staff as it evaluated AMI applications submitted by three of the state’s investor-owned 
utilities (IOUs). This contract represented the first time the PSC staff had asked a consultant to advise 
them on technology—a reflection of the lack of standards in the Smart Grid arena. 
 
Instruction/Expertise 
Dr. Afflerbach has served as an instructor for the U.S. Federal Highway Association/National Highway 
Institute, the George Washington University Continuing Education Program, the University of Maryland 
Instructional TV Program, ITS America, Law Seminars International, and the COMNET Exposition.  
 
EMPLOYMENT HISTORY 
1995–Present CEO/Director of Engineering, CTC 

Previous positions at CTC: Principal Engineer, Senior Scientist 
1990–1996 Astronomer/Instructor/Researcher  
 University of Wisconsin–Madison, NASA, and Swarthmore College 
  

Regular City Council Meeting August 22, 2016 59



CTC Proposal 

28 

EDUCATION 
Ph.D., Astronomy, University of Wisconsin–Madison, 1996  
Master of Science, Astronomy, University of Wisconsin–Madison, 1993 
Bachelor of Arts, Physics, Swarthmore College, 1991 

PROFESSIONAL CERTIFICATIONS/LICENSES 
Professional Engineer, Commonwealth of Virginia and states of Delaware, Maryland, and Illinois 

HONORS/ORGANIZATIONS 

 Association of Public-Safety Communications Officials (APCO)

 SAFECOM Emergency Response Committee

 Board of Visitors, University of Wisconsin Department of Astronomy

 National Association of Telecommunications Officers and Advisors (NATOA) Technology and
Public Safety Committees

 Armed Forces Communications and Electronics Association (AFCEA)

 Society of Cable and Telecommunications Engineers (SCTE)

 Institute of Electrical and Electronic Engineers (IEEE)

 Charleston Defense Contractors Association (CDCA)

 NASA Graduate Fellow, 1993–1996. Research fellowship in astrophysics

 Elected Member, Sigma Xi Scientific Research Honor Society

 Eugene M. Lang Scholar, 1987–1991, Swarthmore College

SELECTED PUBLICATIONS, PRESENTATIONS, and COURSES 

 “LTE‐U Interference in Unlicensed Spectrum: the Impact on Local Communities and
Recommended Solutions,” prepared for WifiForward, Feb. 2016

 “Mobile Broadband Networks Can Manage Congestion While Abiding By Open Internet
Principles,” prepared for the New America Foundation’s Open Technology Institute – Wireless
Future Project, filed with the FCC, Nov. 2014

 “The State of the Art and Evolution of Cable Television and Broadband Technology,” prepared
for Public Knowledge, filed with the FCC, Nov. 2014

 “A Model for Understanding the Cost to Connect Schools and Libraries with Fiber Optics,”
prepared for the Schools, Health & Libraries Broadband Coalition, filed with the FCC, Oct. 2014

 “The Art of the Possible: An Overview of Public Broadband Options,” prepared jointly with the
New America Foundation’s Open Technology Institute, May 2014

 “Understanding Broadband Performance Factors,” with Tom Asp, Broadband Communities
magazine, March/April 2014

 “Engineering Analysis of Technical Issues Raised in the FCC’s Proceeding on Wireless Facilities
Siting,” filed with the FCC (http://apps.fcc.gov/ecfs/document/view?id=7521070994), Feb. 2014

 “A Brief Assessment of Engineering Issues Related to Trial Testing for IP Transition,” prepared
for Public Knowledge and sent to the FCC as part of its proceedings on Advancing Technology
Transitions While Protecting Network Values, Jan. 2014

 “Gigabit Communities: Technical Strategies for Facilitating Public or Private Broadband
Construction in Your Community,” prepared as a guide for local government leaders and
planners (sponsored by Google), Jan. 2014

Regular City Council Meeting August 22, 2016 60

http://apps.fcc.gov/ecfs/document/view?id=7521070994


CTC Proposal 

29 

Thomas J. Asp, BSEE, MBA | Principal Engineer and Analyst 

EXPERIENCE SUMMARY 
Mr. Asp specializes in evaluating connectivity (voice, video, and data) options and recommending effective 
solutions for clients throughout the United States. He holds more than 25 years of experience as an 
engineer and analyst in communications and public power systems. His experience includes electric and 
telecommunication system design, network feasibility, evaluation of the financial impact of projects on 
operations, and provision of expert testimony.  

Mr. Asp is recognized as an expert in evaluating and offering recommendations regarding municipal 
broadband communications systems. He has been actively involved with telecommunication market 
research and feasibility analysis for over a decade, both with CTC and previously as a partner at the public 
accounting firm of Virchow Krause (Baker Tilley). Mr. Asp also has significant experience in the 
communications industry working in the areas of cellular, cable TV, broadband, and mobile radio, 
including as a product manager in the Cellular Mobile Telephone, Automatic Meter Reading, and 
Distribution Automation industries. 

Broadband Networks (Wired and Wireless) 
Mr. Asp is regarded as one of the premiere analysts in the United States regarding municipal planning and 
deployment of broadband systems to meet economic development, digital inclusion, and other needs. He 
has assisted numerous local governments, municipal utilities, and municipal consortia to evaluate their 
communities’ communications needs and determine the financial parameters and business case for 
meeting those needs. 

In this area, Mr. Asp’s experience includes preparing connectivity feasibility studies for municipal 
networks, including economic analysis, market assessment, technology review, vendor analysis, and 
business plan development. He has assisted numerous communities with evaluating the feasibility of 
advanced connectivity services alternatives including provider partnerships and city-owned networks. He 
has reviewed options under cable franchise agreement for municipal purchase and operation. Mr. Asp 
has reviewed offerings and operations of incumbent telecommunications providers and assisted in 
negotiations with incumbent telecommunications providers to enhance availability of existing services 
and to encourage new and innovative offerings.  

Some select examples of his projects include: 

 Provided Jackson (Tennessee) Energy Authority an independent evaluation of responses to JEA’s
2010 request for proposals (RFP) soliciting vendors to provide wholesale voice services. With JEA
staff input, he developed the evaluation system and scoring matrix to ensure a balanced approach
that best met JEA’s needs. Responses were evaluated on the basis of strategic fit, operational fit,
reliability, and overall cost; recommended two respondents as finalists for further consideration
by JEA; and assisted JEA in negotiating with those finalists. As a final step in the process, CTC
presented to JEA management a written report recommending the “best-fit” vendor.

 Completed a business and technology plan for Los Angeles Department of Water and Power
(LADWP) to determine the feasibility of expanding the connectivity services offered to the
businesses and institutions over the Department’s fiber network. Included in the analysis was a
valuation of additional fiber routes that LADWP acquired from the City of Los Angeles.

 Served as a business consultant to the City and County of San Francisco. Investigated the feasibility
of the city building and operating a fiber-to-the-premises (FTTP) network to every home and

Regular City Council Meeting August 22, 2016 61



CTC Proposal 

30 

business in San Francisco. The project included an analysis of multiple business models and 
business recommendations customized for San Francisco’s unique circumstances.  

 Developed a business case analysis for DC-Net, a District-owned and operated fiber optic
telecommunications network that provides voice and data services. The network consists of
resilient, interconnected fiber optic rings that connect more than 400 government buildings in
the District, including Police Department, Emergency Management Agency, and Fire Department
radio towers.

 Conducted a feasibility study, a business case analysis, and an “off-the-balance-sheet” benefits
analysis for a fiber-optic network proposed by the mayor of the City of Seattle. The first study,
FTTP Municipal Broadband Risks and Benefits Evaluation, sponsored by Seattle City Light, included
the following elements:

 Internal needs analysis

 Market research of both residential and business

 Assessment of competing services and technologies

 Evaluation of the business case and business risks
Following on that report, Mr. Asp researched and wrote an FTTP Benefits Evaluation for the City, 
which explored the benefits of FTTP beyond the traditional balance sheet, including cost 
avoidance, monetary savings, and environmental impact. 

 Performed an expert assessment of a business and marketing plan for Utah Telecommunication
Open Infrastructure Agencies (UTOPIA’s) open access FTTP network. The project included a
strategy session with key stakeholders, collection of relevant background material, an analysis of
UTOPIA market research and marketing models, and an independent evaluation of UTOPIA’s
business plan. Mr. Asp’s work focused on improving the participating UTOPIA communities’
ongoing cash flow and increasing participation of households and businesses in those
communities.

 Prepared a fiber optic business plan for Richland Utilities, Washington to meet the needs of city
facilities, the electric utility, schools, hospitals, banks, and other institutions. Work included
preparation of various business models, review of operational requirements, and preparation of
pro-forma financial statements.

 Provided extensive business planning assistance to the State of Maryland’s One Maryland
program, which lead to build an interconnected fiber-optic broadband network that reaches every
county and city in Maryland and will provide backbone and middle-mile capacity for commercial
carriers.

 Managed project assisting Bountiful City, UT with the development of a business plan for a
citywide wireless network. This project included the review of a conceptual design, reviewing
proposed business relationships and staffing, and conducting a cost-benefit analysis.

 Project manager in assisting Ames, IA with the review of existing architecture, development of a
network design, and preparation of detailed cost estimates for the acquisition and installation of
WiFi hot spots and supporting infrastructure. This project has now moved into implementation
preparations.

 Led consulting team in investigating WiFi deployment models, development of a business plan
(including market research and financial analysis), and development of a partnership RFP for St.
Louis Park, MN. Mr. Asp assisted the city to pilot the network and then prepared specifications
and bid documents to identify both integrators and operators for the network.

 Assisted the City of Tucson, AZ with a wireless feasibility study that included market research,
competitive industry assessment, internal and external needs assessments, financial analysis, and
the development of a business plan.

Regular City Council Meeting August 22, 2016 62



CTC Proposal 

31 

 Assisted in the implementation of an Institutional Fiber Network (I-Net) for Norwich (CT) Public
Utilities. Project included development of a plan and strategy for the Fiber Optic Enterprise.

DA, AMR, SCADA 
In the areas of Distribution Automation (DA), Supervisory Control and Data Acquisition (SCADA), mobile 
radio, and Advanced Metering Infrastructure (AMI), Mr. Asp has assisted municipal utilities and public 
power cooperatives with extensive evaluative and design services. Specifically, he has prepared 
evaluations and submitted recommendations on AMI alternatives and benefits. He has assessed existing 
and evolving technologies and services to support AMI and DA for electric utilities and has developed and 
directed demonstration plans to test technologies to support distribution automation -- including 
providing recommendations for establishing vendor alliances, performing research and designs networks 
to combine multi-utility communications, and outlining, evaluating, and recommending communication 
requirements and options for electric utility DA, SCADA, mobile radio, and AMI. 

TESTIMONY & VALUATION 
In addition to assisting over 80 communities and counties in evaluating financial opportunities to provide 
voice, data, and video services, Mr. Asp has provided financial and technical testimony and expert advice. 
Some examples include: 

 Conducted an exhaustive business case analysis and prepared expert witness testimony on behalf
of the City of Alameda in a federal court case involving the business practices, business results,
and ultimate sale of its fiber optic enterprise. The testimony included a comparative analysis of
business models employed by municipal fiber networks nationwide and a review and valuation of
several recent cable business transactions.

 Maryland Public Service Commission regarding Baltimore Gas & Electric’s application for
deployment of AMI and smart grid technologies. Written and sworn testimony included an
analysis of smart grid technologies, vendor development, and impact to rates.

 Pacific Gas & Electric regarding the financial and technical viability of the use of Broadband over
Power line (BPL) for Automatic Meter Reading (AMR) and support of new business opportunities.
Mr. Asp prepared a report in anticipation of being called to testify before the California PUC

 The City of Lebanon, OH in connection with a dispute over an Assessment of Infrastructure
Connectivity Fee with home-builders and Time Warner Cable. The Assessment and disposition
regarded the reasonableness of the connection fee assessed to each new home by the municipal
telecom department

 The City of Marshal, MO in determination of the value of the incumbent cable television system
owned and operated by Time Warner.

EDUCATION 
Bachelor of Science, Electrical Engineering, North Dakota State University, 1979 
Master of Business Administration, University of St. Thomas, St. Paul, 1989 

Regular City Council Meeting August 22, 2016 63



CTC Proposal 

32 

Matthew DeHaven | Principal Engineer and Project Manager 

Matthew DeHaven specializes in wired and wireless communications and broadband telecommunications 
technology for public safety and other local government and institutional needs. He has over 13 years of 
extensive engineering experience designing, developing, installing, and overseeing integration of local and 
wide area networks for institutional, public safety, and Intelligent Transportation System (ITS) 
applications, video-networking solutions, and unified communications systems.  

Mr. DeHaven has experience at many levels of network design, procurement, and implementation for 
high-capacity metropolitan-area networks to support converged video, voice, and data communications. 
He leads network designs and the preparation of specifications for competitive bid processes, serves as 
project manager overseeing implementation and testing for a wide range of government clients. Mr. 
DeHaven prepares designs and cost models to support decision-makers in the deployment of a range of 
data network technologies, traditional telephone systems, voice-over-IP (VoIP) networks, one-way video 
distribution, and two-way videoconferencing. His data network experience includes work with SONET, 
Ethernet, and ATM networks using a range of fiber optic, copper, and wireless technologies. He serves as 
CTC’s lead engineer on numerous wide area network projects. 

Among many other projects, he served as a one of the primary technical architects for the 19 jurisdiction 
fiber optic/microwave network currently deployed in the National Capital Region (NCRnet) to support 
public safety interoperable communications.  

Inter-County Broadband Network 
Originally serving as part of the grant application development team that successfully led the State of 
Maryland to a $115 million Broadband Technology Opportunities Program (BTOP) administered by the 
National Telecommunications and Information Administration (NTIA), Mr. DeHaven served as the 
Portfolio Manager for the One Maryland Inter-County Broadband Network BTOP grant project.  

The ICBN is a nine-jurisdiction consortium in central Maryland led by Howard County, Maryland, and is a 
key sub-recipient of the State’s grant award. Mr. DeHaven is the lead technical consultant overseeing the 
use of approximately $72 million in grant funds to build over 800 miles of fiber optics and directly connect 
approximately 650 community anchor institutions, including schools, libraries, government buildings, 
community colleges, and public safety agencies. Mr. DeHaven was tasked with overseeing numerous 
engineering and construction contractors, as well as playing a key role in overall network design during 
this aggressive three-year endeavor that began in late 2010.  

Wireless Communications 
Mr. DeHaven assesses clients’ existing and projected wireless broadband needs and recommends 
potential strategies for using new technologies to enhance and improve network operations and services. 
Some select examples of his ongoing and past projects include: 

 Engineering support of the ongoing deployment of a citywide 4.9 GHz public safety radio mesh
network for the City of Port Angeles, WA. CTC conducted a needs assessment of the city’s network
and reviewed public safety mobile data communications considerations, which led to the
development of network specifications and overseeing the procurement for the expansion of the
city’s fiber network and a citywide wireless network serving both public safety and public access
needs.

Regular City Council Meeting August 22, 2016 64



CTC Proposal 

33 

 Provided an updated assessment and review to Cincinnati, OH of the city’s current networks and
recommended updates to the long-term strategic plan originally prepared in 2004. This project
involves assessing and identifying new department and network application needs, assessing the
current networks to meet identified needs, assessing emerging fiber and wireless technologies,
recommending wireless strategies, and providing recommendations and strategies for meeting
foreseeable needs.

 Developed a strategic plan for a wireless data network to meet public safety and local government
needs in Seattle, WA. CTC previously conducted a feasibility study that identified these needs.

 Design of a broadband wireless network for Annapolis, MD that provides connectivity for a
citywide video surveillance system. The network was designed to provide high-degrees of security
and have substantial reserve capacity to support the addition of new video requirements, expand
toll-quality IP-based voice and data services, and, potentially, provide backhaul for a future mobile
wireless solution.

 Oversight of the design and implementation of a “wireless downtown” for Skokie, IL to enhance
economic development and Internet accessibility for residents and visitors.

 Project oversight in developing an infrastructure plan to support the implementation of WiFi
services throughout a downtown area targeted for economic development in Rockville, MD. The
plan focuses on deploying a flexible architecture of physical support infrastructure to enable a
wide range of wireless connectivity options for visitors, residents, and business tenants while
maintaining the aesthetics of the development.

 Evaluation of bids from wireless service providers who responded to the city of Mesa, AZ’s RFP.
CTC also, in an earlier phase of the project, provided an assessment of WiFi technology and
potential expansion of the fiber-optic infrastructure via mass wireless communications—
potentially for an intelligent transportation system application and for free Internet access for
citizens.

 Research on current and future wireless technologies and evaluation of the feasibility of
implementing a secure public safety wireless network in Prince George’s County, MD. Designed
and implemented a pilot project to test the feasibility of a public safety network. A successful
solution was deployed to enable Mobile Data Computers in emergency response vehicles to
securely roam from a carrier CDMA network to private, County-operated WiFi hotspots.

Public Safety Networking 
In addition to supporting the design and deployment of NCRnet, Mr. DeHaven is the lead engineer 
responsible for one of the key applications leveraging this regional network. Mr. DeHaven is responsible 
for the design, implementation, and ongoing operations of a regional videoconferencing network 
supporting Emergency Management among the 21 jurisdictions in the National Capital Region (DC, MD, 
VA). CTC developed the systems’ designs and oversaw implementation under a grant from the 
Department of Homeland Security Urban Areas Security Initiative (UASI). This network now serves 
thousands of end users, integrated tightly with the ever growing videoconferencing and VoIP systems 
leveraged by these jurisdictions. 

In Anne Arundel County, MD, Mr. DeHaven assisted with the deployment of traffic surveillance cameras. 
He provided analysis of candidate technical solutions for cameras using the County’s high-speed fiber-
optic I-Net to transport video and control signals, developed system specifications, and oversaw the 
implementation of the County’s video surveillance capabilities.  

Regular City Council Meeting August 22, 2016 65



CTC Proposal 

34 

Mr. DeHaven was also involved in the planning and implementation of a statewide network in Delaware 
for the purpose of providing traffic information and traffic control capabilities to transportation 
management facilities. Such a network allows remote control of traffic signal systems and variable 
message displays, while providing real-time traffic surveillance in the form of video images and microwave 
sensor data. He has developed expertise in the numerous forms of technology used in this type of project, 
ranging from fiber optics to wireless digital spread-spectrum communications.  

Mr. DeHaven serves as CTC’s lead engineer with respect to the Delaware Department of Transportation’s 
Advanced Traffic Advisory Radio System, the first Advanced TARS system in the country. In that capacity, 
he is responsible for training and advising on-site staff, specifying and installing new equipment, and 
monitoring performance of the system. 

Video and Broadcast Communications Engineering 
Mr. DeHaven’s experience includes the management, design, and procurement of video, voice, and data 
networks. Some select examples of his recent project work include: 

 Analysis of the technical options to allow The Rockville Channel (Rockville, MD) to support live
cablecasting from multiple facilities, including the implementation of an IP-based video and audio
transmission system. He also managed the relocation of the master control and studio production
systems for The Rockville Channel. CTC successfully executed the relocation during the tight
window of opportunity between live production events, while making enhancements to system
layout and cabling infrastructure and keeping the channel “on-air” during the process.

 Development and implementation of videoconferencing and teleconferencing tools for the 21
jurisdictions in the National Capital Region (DC, MD, VA) Emergency Operations Centers (EOCs)
and Emergency Communications Centers (ECCs) over a state-of-the-art fiber-optic and microwave
network.

 Preparation of system-level design recommendations and cost estimates for an extensive,
countywide system to support interactive and on-demand video training communications for the
Anne Arundel (MD) County Fire Department. CTC also developed the design for a video display
system for the Fire Department’s new dispatch center, intended to allow key sources of
information to be prominently displayed throughout the facility.

 Preparation of system-level design recommendations and cost estimates for an extensive,
citywide system to support interactive and on-demand video communications for training,
emergency collaboration, and routine meetings between Mesa, AZ Fire Department personnel.
CTC also integrated a pilot videoconferencing system to demonstrate certain capabilities of the
system design.

 Development of a videoconferencing system for homeland security applications on behalf of
Arlington County, VA—the site of the September 11, 2001 Pentagon attack. The system links
numerous public safety and other government users and aims to ensure uninterrupted
emergency communications in the event of a terrorist attack or natural disaster.

Instruction/Expertise 
Mr. DeHaven led the CTC research team in preparing Web-based Intelligent Transportation System (ITS)-
Communications courses on behalf of the University of Maryland Center for Advanced Transportation 
Technology. He has served as an online instructor for these courses for more than six years.  

Regular City Council Meeting August 22, 2016 66



CTC Proposal 

35 

EDUCATION 
Bachelor of Science, Electrical Engineering, in progress, The Johns Hopkins University 

PUBLICATIONS/COURSES 

 “What’s the Fuss About Fiber? A Comparative Analysis of Fiber and Copper Physical Media,”
Journal of Municipal Telecommunications Policy, Spring 2009.

 “Deploying Public Safety Networks: Costs and Benefits – 4.9 GHz for Video Surveillance,”
presented at annual SEATOA Conference, April 2008.

 “Busting the Technology Myths,” presented at NATOA Conference, October 2007.

 “WiFi and Beyond: Taming Technology for your Community,” presented at the annual TATOA
Conference, August 2007.

 “Looking Beyond Traditional I-Nets: NSCC Case Study,” presented at the annual TATOA
Conference, August 2007.

 “Magical Solutions for Public Safety Wireless,” presented to the National Association of
Telecommunications Officers and Advisers, September 2006.

 “VoIP and Enhanced 911 Services: A Primer on the Technology and its Limitations,” Journal of
Municipal Telecommunications Policy, Fall 2005.

 “IP Technologies: An Overview for Local Government,” presented at the annual NATOA
Conference, September 2005.

 “Homeland Security Applications Over the I-Net,” NATOA Conference, 2002.

Regular City Council Meeting August 22, 2016 67



CTC Proposal 

36 

Charlie Hamm | GIS Specialist and Staff Engineer 

Charlie Hamm works with a range of geographic design programs—including AutoCAD, ESRI ArcGIS, 
Google Earth, Microsoft Streets and Trips, and Quantum GIS—to enable large-scale network design and 
construction projects, as well as to illustrate geographic data for feasibility studies. He creates databases 
and maps to support network route planning, utility pole attachment, and permit application processes. 

EXPERIENCE 
Columbia Telecommunications Corporation, GIS Specialist/Staff Engineer, 2011 – present 
Charlie researches, aggregates, and manipulates data to create maps essential to projects. His specific 
client engagements have included the following: 

Prince George’s County, Maryland 

 Created GIS shapefiles to document the locations of cellular antennas within the county

Inter-County Broadband Network (ICBN) 
Provided GIS map management and design for the ICBN, a sub-grantee of the State of Maryland’s federally 
funded One Maryland Broadband Network (OMBN): 

 Used Visio to generate splice matrices for the contractors connecting fibers in Prince George’s,
Montgomery, and Anne Arundel counties

 Created GIS maps based on data developed during the update to the project’s Environmental
Assessment

 Developed overview maps of the ICBN build for project managers

 For a related fiber-to-the-premises (FTTP) project in a portion of Anne Arundel County:
o Entered field notes into GIS
o Generated bills of materials (BOMs)
o Applied for environmental, county, and state permits
o Used Visio to generate splice matrices for contractors

Garrett County, Maryland 

 Analyzed data on availability of broadband service to identify unserved areas

 Created shapefiles in ESRI ArcGIS for incorporation into the county’s GIS database

Arlington County, Virginia 

 Assist county and CTC engineers in creating system-level drawings of last-mile engineering for
ConnectArlington, the county’s municipal fiber network

 Oversee incorporation of countywide fiber optic design into county’s GIS database

Carroll County, Maryland and Spotsylvania County, Virginia 

 Analyzed residential cable service to determine compliance with the counties’ franchise
agreements and develop strategies for franchise renewal negotiations

 Converted Bentley data into GIS format for analysis of broadband service

National Capital Region Interoperability Program 

 Create and update as-built documentation for the NCRnet fiber network in Visio

 Provide ongoing mapping support for expansion of NCRnet

Regular City Council Meeting August 22, 2016 68



CTC Proposal 

37 

 Acted as primary point of contact for the construction contractor that built a grant-funded
Maryland Department of IT fiber link connecting two sites

Northern Illinois University (NIU) 

 Geocoded survey results to generate GIS maps

U.S. Postal Service (USPS) 

 Searched the National Broadband Map database to identify and analyze data related to
broadband connectivity near postal facilities nationwide

 Manipulated CSV files for multiple states to create maps of broadband service availability based
on the FCC’s definition of underserved areas

Anne Arundel County, Maryland 

 Performed OTDR and power meter testing for fiber acceptance

James Madison University, Research Assistant, 2010 

 Created a GIS map of student enrollment for the campus

Virginia Department of Game and Inland Fisheries, Extern, 2009 

 Measured and recorded fish data

EDUCATION 
James Madison University  
B.S., Geographic Science, 2011 

 Dual concentration in Applied Geographic Information Science (AGIS) and Environmental
Concentration, Sustainability and Development (ECSD)

ESRI Training Courses 

 Learning ArcGIS Desktop, 2010

 Creating and Maintaining Metadata Using ArcGIS Desktop, 2010

 Cartographic Design Using ArcGIS 9, 2009

Software Skills 

 AutoCAD, ESRI ArcGIS, Google Earth, GPS Pathfinder Office

 Microsoft Streets and Trips, Quantum GIS, Remote sensing software

Regular City Council Meeting August 22, 2016 69



CTC Proposal 

38 

Marc Schulhof | Senior Analyst and Technical Writer 

Marc Schulhof has more than 20 years of experience in technical writing, financial journalism, and public 
and corporate communications. Marc’s excellent editorial skills and his extensive experience with 
analyzing IT and business topics have enabled him to play an integral role in supporting a range of research 
and writing projects, including: 

 Master plans (business and engineering)

 Needs assessments

 Feasibility studies

 Survey instruments

 Expert witness testimony

 Federal grant applications

 Requests for proposal

 Requests for information

 Cellular tower siting reports

 Letters, press releases, and website content

Prior to joining CTC, Marc was the worldwide editor-in-chief of CIO program websites at IBM, where he 
established editorial direction for 36 country-specific CIO websites and worked with local editors to 
update each site’s mix of multimedia content. He also wrote and edited feature articles and white papers 
on information technology and business topics. 

Marc’s experience includes his role as a global editor at PricewaterhouseCoopers Consulting, where he 
wrote and edited reports on a variety of technology and business topics, and served as editor of the PwC-
sponsored BusinessWeek Online Handheld Edition daily news summary for mobile device users. Earlier in 
his career, as an associate editor at Kiplinger’s Personal Finance Magazine, he researched, analyzed, and 
wrote about a range of complex financial issues.  

Marc has also written and edited articles on a variety of topics for numerous non-profit organizations and 
associations, including the National Coalition for Cancer Survivorship and the American Society of Clinical 
Oncology.  

EDUCATION 
Bachelor of Science, Journalism, Northwestern University 
Master of Science, Journalism, Northwestern University 

Regular City Council Meeting August 22, 2016 70



CTC Proposal 

39 

Eric Wirth | Senior Project Engineer 

EXPERIENCE SUMMARY 
Eric Wirth has more than nine years of communications engineering experience; he specializes in 
evaluating broadband (video, voice, and data) telecommunications networks, analyzing emerging 
broadband technologies, and designing broadband networks for institutional uses. In addition, Mr. Wirth 
is conducting extensive and ongoing research on applications for Internet Protocol (IP) technology, 
including video-over-IP (VoIP) for video transmission over wide area networks, video conferencing, and 
other communication applications for wide area networks.  

Utility and Public Safety Fiber Optic Networking 
Mr. Wirth’s experience includes the design and implementation of a variety of fiber optic communications 
network. Some select examples of his work include: 

 Design and pricing of fiber optic cable, electronics, and overall architecture of a survivable
emergency communications system for Tennessee Valley Public Power Association (TVPPA)
distributors. The design included MPLS and DWDM technology, and leveraged TVPPA and
distributor fiber.

 Design and implementation of a fiber optic network for Norwich (Connecticut) Public Utilities. The
project consisted of developing detailed fiber optic route design and cost estimates, network
electronic design and cost estimates (including SCADA transportation), and a request for
proposals (RFP) for Norwich’s use in selecting a contractor to complete the installation. In addition
to serving the utility’s needs, the fiber optic network was designed to serve city, schools, and
hospital users.

 Fiber optic network and electronics design, and RFP development, for the City of Dover, Delaware
Electric Department. Mr. Wirth developed a fiber optic network design to provide additional
redundancy and functionality for the existing city fiber optic network. In addition, he developed a
network electronics design to leverage the new fiber optic communications links to increase the
reliability of the city’s network.

 Fiber optic network design and feasibility analysis for the City of Palo Alto, California. The City is
examining several fiber optic construction projects to expand its existing fiber optic network to
further meet the needs of the city and surrounding school districts, and to increase the footprint
of its commercial fiber optic network. As a municipal electric, Palo Alto is exploring several options
for fiber optic design.

Wireless Communications 
Mr. Wirth has extensive experience working on numerous wireless networking projects, from analysis and 
feasibility to design and implementation. These networks range in scope from small hot spots to area-
wide and regional networks. Some representative examples of his projects include: 

 Designing and overseeing the implementation of a citywide broadband wireless network project
that will provide integrated communications and interoperability among all local public safety
entities in the City of Port Angeles, Washington. The high-capacity 4.9 GHz broadband wireless
network provides public safety staff in the field with full and timely access to state, federal, and
GIS databases, and will allow EMS responders to access medical databases and support on-site
telemetry of patient status. A commercial “open access” multi-provider wireless access system
was deployed as a public–private partnership with a local Internet service provider (ISP); it

Regular City Council Meeting August 22, 2016 71



CTC Proposal 

40 

provides citywide WiFi services in the 2.4 GHz band. The city and the local ISP partner have 
developed a subscription package that is attractive to a wide range of commercial, residential, 
and public sector users. 

 Designing a cost-effective broadband wireless network for the City of Annapolis, Maryland. This
network serves as a backbone to provide connectivity for a video surveillance system throughout
downtown Annapolis. The network has the capacity to meet all current needs, provide 99.999
percent availability, and have substantial reserve capacity to support the addition of new video
requirements, expanded IP-based voice and data services, and support backhaul for a potential
mobile wireless solution.

 Acting as lead engineer for the design and implementation of a microwave network to enable
communications between public health agencies in Maryland and the District of Columbia. The
microwave project is designed to provide connectivity to area hospitals to ensure reliable
communications and data sharing in the event of problems with the public communications
infrastructure. In addition, the robust microwave connectivity allows for day-to-day data sharing,
voice communications, and interoperable communications. This connectivity will provide the
transport mechanism necessary for patient tracking and other information sharing platforms.

Public Safety Networking 
Some representative examples of Mr. Wirth’s projects include: 

 Designed, implemented and tested a backhaul network for the Arlington County, Virginia public
safety radio network. The backhaul network consists of SONET equipment over a county-owned
fiber optic network that increases the reliability and availability of the public safety radio system.

 Lead engineer for the design and implementation of a 19-jurisdiction regional fiber optic public
safety interconnection network in the National Capital Region (DC, MD, VA). NCRnet provides an
interoperable, robust, and reliable fiber infrastructure to augment the communication
capabilities of first responder communities in the NCR. These communities include local and
regional law enforcement, fire, emergency management, transportation, and public health
agencies.

 Performed radio frequency (RF) coverage analysis and prepared design recommendations for
improving public safety radio coverage for Warren County, Pennsylvania. Included analysis of the
county’s existing public safety radio system and recommendations to improve coverage for both
the county’s public safety radio system and commercial cellular.

 Collaborated on the development of a master telecommunications plan for the Delaware
Department of Transportation. The plan acts as a guide for the department to consolidate several
disparate network environments into a unified communications network capable of supporting
current and future transportation and public safety applications. Part of the plan involves
developing a system-level design that incorporates fiber optics, microwave, and land-mobile
radio. The plan requires coordination among a variety of state agencies to develop a network that
meets the department’s critical public safety requirements.

Video and Broadcast Communications Engineering 
Mr. Wirth’s experience includes the design and implementation of video, voice, and data networks. Some 
select examples of his work include: 

 Designed and implemented a public, educational, and governmental (PEG) access and monitoring
network for Montgomery County, Maryland. The network uses IP-based video encoders and the

Regular City Council Meeting August 22, 2016 72



CTC Proposal 

41 

County’s state-of-the-art IT network to improve the quality and functionality of video transport 
throughout the county. 

 Developed a design and integration solution for cablecast channels for Monterey County,
California. Analyzed the existing audio-visual and broadcast systems and developed
recommendations for future development. Designed an IP-based video server system capable of
recording and airing live meetings and scheduling cable/broadcasts. Completed on-site
integration, testing, and training on the video server system.

 Designed and implemented state-of-the-art videoconferencing and teleconferencing tools for the
19 jurisdictions in the National Capital Region Emergency Operations Centers (EOCs) and
Emergency Communications Centers (ECCs). CTC developed the systems’ designs and oversaw
implementation to interconnect the EOCs and ECCs throughout the region, under a grant from
the U.S. Department of Homeland Security Urban Areas Security Initiative (UASI).

EDUCATION 
Bachelor of Science, Electrical Engineering, University of Virginia, School of Engineering and Applied 
Science, Charlottesville, Virginia, 2004. 

PRIOR TO COMING TO CTC IN 2004 
1998-2003, Technician, Schnabel Engineering, Inc., Baltimore, Maryland 

Regular City Council Meeting August 22, 2016 73



City Council Agenda Item # 11 
Staff Report 

Meeting Date:  August 22, 2016 

To: Mayor and City Council 

From: Rod Bryan, Public Works Director 

Subject: Utility Rate Study 

Recommendation: 

Staff requests the City Council adopt the proposed Resolution authorizing the City Manager to 
enter into a Professional Services Agreement between the City of Mt. Shasta and PACE 
Engineering, Inc. for the purpose of providing a Utility Rate Study. 

Background & Summary: 
The City is in need of a comprehensive water and sewer rate study to establish a fair 
apportionment of costs to its customers. 

The City advertised a Request for Qualifications from June 15, 2016 through July 15, 2016. Four 
Statement of Qualifications were received.  

A Consultant Selection Committee reviewed and ranked all SOQ’s. The Committee selected 
PACE Engineering as the highes ranked Consultant to perform the work. 

PACE’s proposal was reviewed after the ranking and the attached Agreement, Scope of Work, 
and Cost Proposal was agreed upon. The final Not to Exceed (NTE) amount is $73,372 

Staff is recommending adoption of the proposed Resolution allowing PACE Engineering to 
perform the Utility Rate Study.  

Attachments: 

1. Proposed Resolution

2. Agreement

X Regular 
Consent 
Closed 
Presentation 

Regular City Council Meeting August 22, 2016 74



RESOLUTION NO. CCR-16-37 

A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
OF THE CITY OF MT. SHASTA APPROVING AN AGREEMENT BETWEEN THE CITY OF 

MT. SHASTA AND PACE ENGINEERING, INC. 
FOR PROFESSIONAL SERVICES TO PERFORM A UTILITY RATE STUDY  

WHEREAS, the City of Mt. Shasta has solicited for and received formal Statements of Qualifications from 
Engineering firms to provide engineering consultant services for the City of Mt. Shasta; and 

WHEREAS, four Statement of Qualifications were received; and 

WHEREAS, the Engineering firm of Pace Engineering, Inc. is selected as the best qualified to provide 
Utility Rate Study engineering services to the City of Mt. Shasta; and 

WHEREAS, a Professional Services Agreement was negotiated; and 

WHEREAS, staff is recommending the execution of the Agreement for Pace Engineering, Inc. to provide 
engineering consultant services to the City of Mt. Shasta to perform a Utility Rate Study.  

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED THAT the City Council of the City of Mt. Shasta hereby 
authorizes the City Manager to execute the Professional Services Agreement For Utility Rate Study 
Services Between The City of Mt. Shasta And Pace Engineering, Inc. 

The foregoing resolution was passed and adopted this 22nd day of August, 2016 by the following vote: 

ROLL CALL VOTE 

AYES: 

NOES: 

ABSENT: 

ABSTAIN: 

DATED:  August 22, 2016 

CITY OF MT. SHASTA 

 ______________________________ 
Jeffrey Collings, Mayor 

ATTEST: 

_______________________________ 
 Kathy Wilson, City Clerk 

Regular City Council Meeting August 22, 2016 75



1 of 10 

CITY OF MT. SHASTA 
 PROFESSIONAL SERVICES AGREEMENT FOR 

UTILITY RATE STUDY SERVICES 

THIS AGREEMENT made and entered into on the 22nd day of August, 2016, by and 
between the City of Mt. Shasta, hereinafter called “City”, and PACE Engineering, 
hereinafter called “Consultant”. 

RECITAL 

1. Purpose

This purpose of this Agreement is to allow the City to procure the services of an
experienced professional firm to provide Utility Rate Study services, described as
providing a comprehensive Water and Wastewater Utility Rate Study.

TERMS AND CONDITIONS 
2. Mission

City hereby retains Consultant in the capacity as consultant to provide
engineering consultation services to the City of Mt. Shasta to provide a
comprehensive cost of service rate study for its Water and Wastewater Utility
enterprise funds to classify and allocate capital investment costs, operating
expenses, reserve requirements, and all other financial obligations by major
functions, including incidental and related work..

3. Duties of City

A. City agrees to make available to Consultant relevant public records 
including current water and sewer rate structures and fees, previous Fiscal 
Year budgets, audited financial statements, water consumption data, 
and other file materials as may be needed for the Consultant to perform 
his duties and to cooperate in the collection of information which 
Consultant may request. 

B. City shall promptly: 

(1) notify Consultant of any defect in Consultant’s performance; and 

(2) review any documents submitted by Consultant for City’s 
comment. 

C. City acknowledges and agrees that Consultant has invested considerable 
time and money that would be difficult to quantify in the training and 
development of its employees.  Therefore, City agrees to not hire, retain or 
contract with, any employee of Consultant who performs services for City 

Regular City Council Meeting August 22, 2016 76



2 of 10 

under this Agreement ("covered employee") for a period of one year from 
the date this Agreement is terminated or one year following the 
separation of a covered employee from the Consultant’s employment. 

Should the City desire to hire Consultant’s employee as a fulltime 
employee of the City, the City shall submit a written request to Consultant, 
and will not hire the covered employee unless it receives the Consultant’s 
written permission, which shall not be unreasonably withheld. 

4. Term

This Agreement shall commence as of the date signed by the City unless another
date is specified herein and shall remain in full force and effect until terminated
as set forth below.

5. Scope of Work

It is necessary for the City from time to time to retain a consultant to perform 
engineering consulting services in review or preparation of projects proposed by 
applicants or the City itself. Consultant represents that they have the 
experience and expertise necessary to perform the work they accept. The 
scope of work and fees for each item shall be as set forth in Exhibit A attached 
hereto. Fees shall be charged in accordance with the Proposal as set forth in 
Exhibit B.   

There will be no markup for overhead and profit for work done directly by 
Consultant.  All meals, lodging, transportation expenses and incidental expenses 
shall be reimbursed at direct cost.  Consultant shall be entitled to a ten percent 
administrative fee for services that have been subcontracted to a third party.   
Consultant shall not subcontract for services without first receiving the written 
approval of the City. 

6. Key Personnel

This contract is awarded with the understanding that the Consultant will utilize
the key personnel identified in the project proposal until completion of the work
and that changes in key personnel will not be made without written approval of
the City.

7. Compensation

During the term of this Agreement, City shall pay Consultant in accordance with
invoice submitted by Consultant, on a monthly basis, and such invoices shall be
paid within a reasonable time after said invoices are received by the City and
approved by the City Manager. All charges shall be in accordance with the
Consultant’s proposal, attached as Exhibit B, and based on the percentage of
project completed.  The maximum compensation for services, including all
Consultant’s costs, under the terms of this Agreement, shall not exceed $73,372.

Regular City Council Meeting August 22, 2016 77



3 of 10  

Consultant agrees to testify at City’s request if litigation is brought against City in 
connection with Consultant’s work.  Unless the action is brought by Consultant or 
is based upon Consultant’s negligence, City will compensate Consultant for the 
testimony at Consultant’s standard hourly rate. 

8. Right to Audit 

City or any of its duly authorized representatives shall have access to any books, 
documents, papers and records of Consultant and/or its subcontractors which 
are pertinent to the specific program hereunder for the purpose of making an 
audit, and examination, excerpts and transcriptions.  All books, records and 
supporting detail shall be retained for a period of five (5) years after the 
expiration of the term of this Agreement, or any extension thereof, or for any 
longer period of time as required by law. 

9. Audit Exceptions 

Consultant agrees that in the event the program established hereunder is 
subjected to audit exceptions by appropriate audit agencies, it shall be 
responsible for complying with such exceptions and paying City the full amount 
of liability resulting from such audit exceptions. 

10. Independent Contractor 

Consultant shall perform the services as contained herein as an independent 
contractor and shall not be considered an agent or employee of City.  This 
Agreement is by and between Consultant and City, and is not intended, and 
shall not be construed, to create the relationship of agent, servant, employee, 
partnership, joint venture, or association, between City and Consultant. 

11. Successor and Assignment 

The services as contained herein are to be rendered by Consultant whose name 
is as appears first above written and said Consultant shall not assign nor transfer 
any interest in this Agreement without the prior written consent of the City. 

 
12. Dispute Resolution 
 

a.  Disputes Subject to Mediation and Arbitration: Except as otherwise 
provided in this contract, any dispute between the parties arising out of 
this Agreement or relating to the interpretation and enforcement of their 
rights and obligations under this Agreement shall be resolved solely by 
mediation and arbitration in accordance with the provisions of  of this 
Agreement. 

 
b.  Initial Mediation: With respect to any dispute between the parties that 
is to be resolved by arbitration as provided in Paragraph 11(c), the parties 
shall attempt in good faith first to mediate such dispute and use their best 
efforts to reach agreement on the matters in dispute. Within 5 days of the 
request of any party, the requesting party shall attempt to employ the 
services of a third person mutually acceptable to the parties to conduct 
such mediation within 5 days of his appointment. If the parties are unable 

Regular City Council Meeting August 22, 2016 78



4 of 10  

to agree on such third person, or, if on completion of such mediation, the 
parties are unable to agree and settle the dispute, then the dispute shall 
be referred to arbitration in accordance with Paragraph 11(c). 

 
c.  Arbitration: Any controversy or claim arising out of or relating to this 
Agreement, or the breach thereof, where the amount in controversy does 
not exceed $50,000,  shall be settled by arbitration in accordance with 
California Code of Civil Procedure section 1280 et seq., and judgment 
upon the award rendered by the arbitrator may be entered in any court 
having jurisdiction thereof.  Notwithstanding this arbitration clause, any 
party to this agreement may seek interim equitable relief from a court in 
Siskiyou County.   Any such arbitration shall be held and conducted in 
Siskiyou County, California, before one arbitrator, who shall be selected by 
mutual agreement of the parties; if agreement is not reached on the 
selection of an arbitrator within 15 days, then either party may petition the 
Siskiyou County Superior Court to appoint an arbitrator.  
 
The provisions of the California statutes governing contract arbitration shall 
apply and govern such arbitration, subject, however, to the following: 
 

(i) Any demand for arbitration shall be in writing and must be made 
within a reasonable time after the claim, dispute or other matter in 
question has arisen. In no event shall the demand for arbitration be made 
after the date that institution of legal or equitable proceedings based on 
such claim, dispute, or other matter would be barred by the applicable 
statute of limitations. 

(ii) The arbitrator appointed must be a former or retired judge or 
attorney with at least 10 years experience in real property and 
commercial matters, or non-attorneys with like experience in the area of 
dispute. 

(iii) Final decision by the arbitrator must be made within 90 days 
from the date the arbitration proceedings are initiated. 

(iv) The prevailing party shall be awarded reasonable attorneys' 
fees, expert and non-expert witness costs and expenses, and other costs 
and expenses incurred in connection with the arbitration, unless the 
arbitrator for good cause determines otherwise. 

(v) Costs and fees of the arbitrator shall be borne by the non-
prevailing party, unless the arbitrator for good cause determines 
otherwise. 

(vi) The award or decision of the arbitrator, which may include 
equitable relief, shall be final and judgment may be entered on it in 
accordance with applicable law in any court having jurisdiction over the 
matter. 

(vii) The provisions of Title 9 of Part 3 of the California Code of Civil 
Procedure, including Section 1283.05, and successor statutes, permitting 
expanded discovery proceedings shall be applicable to all disputes 
which are arbitrated pursuant to this paragraph. 

Regular City Council Meeting August 22, 2016 79



5 of 10  

(viii)  Notwithstanding the foregoing, if a written offer of 
compromise made by either party is not accepted by the other party 
within thirty (30) days after receipt and the party not accepting such offer 
fails to obtain a more favorable judgment, the non-accepting party shall 
not be entitled to recover its costs (as defined in CCP §1033.5) of suit and 
reasonable attorney's fees (even if it is the prevailing party) and shall be 
obligated to pay the costs of suit and reasonable attorney's fees incurred 
by the offering party after the date such written offer is made.  

 
d. Large Amounts:  Disputes involving amounts in excess of $50,000 shall 
be resolved in such court as has proper jurisdiction. 

 
e. Attorney’s Fees:  The prevailing party shall be awarded reasonable 
attorneys' fees, expert and non-expert witness costs and expenses, and 
other costs and expenses incurred in connection with the litigation, unless 
the Court for good cause determines otherwise. 

 

13. Indemnification 

The Consultant agrees, to the fullest extent permitted by law, to indemnify and 
hold harmless the City, its elected and appointed officials, officers, agents and 
employees (collectively, City) against all damages, liabilities or costs, including 
reasonable attorney’s fees and defense costs, to the extent caused by the 
Consultant’s negligent performance of professional services under this 
Agreement and that of its subconsultants or anyone for whom the Consultant is 
legally liable. 
 

The City agrees, to the fullest extent permitted by law, to indemnify and hold 
harmless the Consultant, its officers, directors, employees, and subconsultants 
(collectively, Consultant) against all damages, liabilities or costs, including 
reasonable attorney’s fees and defense costs, to the extent caused by the City’s 
negligent acts in connection with the Project. 
 
Neither the City nor the Consultant shall be obligated to indemnify the other 
party in any manner whatsoever for the other party’s own negligence. 

14. Insurance 

Without limiting Consultant’s indemnification of City, Consultant shall procure 
and maintain at all times during the life of this Agreement, a program of 
insurance against claims for injuries to person or damages to property which may 
arise from or in connect with performance of the work hereunder by Consultant, 
its officers, representatives, agents, or employees.  Consultant acknowledges 
that Section 3700 of the California Labor Code requires all employers to be 
insured against liability for workers’ compensation or undertake self insurance in 
accordance with the provisions of that Code Section.  Further, prior to 
commencement of work pursuant to this Agreement, Consultant, including any 
subcontractor, shall obtain all insurance required hereunder from a company or 

Regular City Council Meeting August 22, 2016 80



6 of 10  

companies acceptable to the City’s Risk Manager.  For the purposes of the 
Insurance Section of this Agreement, City’s Risk Manager shall mean City’s 
Finance Director. 

a. Minimum Limits on Insurance 

Consultant shall maintain limits of no less than: 

1. General Liability:  $1 Million per occurrence for bodily injury, 
personal injury and property damage for products/completed, 
operations and any other activities undertaken by Consultant 
pursuant to this Agreement. 

2. Automobile Liability:  $1 Million per accident for bodily injury, death, 
and property damage insuring against liability arising out of the use 
of any vehicle. 

3. Workers’ Compensation insurance as required by the State of 
California. 

4. Errors and Omissions Liability:  $1 Million aggregate / $1 Million per 
claim. 

Modifications to the above noted minimum insurance limits may only occur upon 
concurrence of both parties to this Agreement, confirmed in writing by 
Consultant and City’s Risk Manager. 

 

b. Other Insurance Provisions – Commercial General and Automotive 
Liability 

The commercial general liability and automotive liability policies are to 
contain, or be endorsed to contain, the following provisions: 

1. The City, its elected and appointed officials, officers, agents 
and employees are to be covered as insured with respect to: 

(i) liability arising out of work or operations performed by 
or on behalf of the Consultant; or 

(ii) automobiles owned, leased, hired or borrowed by the 
Consultant. 

2. For any claims related to Consultant’s services rendered 
pursuant to this Agreement, the Consultant’s insurance 
coverage shall be primary insurance as respects the city, its 
elected and appointed officials, officers, agents and 
employees.  Any insurance or self-insurance maintained by the 
City, its elected and appointed officials, officers, agents and 
employees shall be excess of the Consultant’s insurance and 
shall not contribute with it. 

3. Each insurance policy required by the clause shall be endorsed 
to state that coverage shall not be reduced or canceled by 
either party, except after thirty (30) days’ written notice by U.S. 

Regular City Council Meeting August 22, 2016 81



7 of 10  

mail, has been given to the City’s Risk Manager. 

c. Verification of Coverage 

Consultant shall furnish the City’s Risk Manager with original certificates 
and amendatory endorsements effecting coverage required by this 
clause. 

d. Failure to Provide or Maintain Insurance 

Failure on the part of the Consultant to procure or maintain required 
insurance shall constitute a material breach of this Agreement upon 
which the City may immediately terminate this Agreement. 

15. Compliance with Laws 

The parties agree to make every reasonable effort to be bound by applicable 
federal, state and local laws, regulations and directives as they pertain to the 
performance of this Agreement. 

16. Non-Discrimination 

In the fulfillment of the program established under this Agreement, either as to 
employment, upgrading, demotion, transfer, recruitment or recruitment 
advertising, layoff or termination, rates of pay or other terms of compensation, 
selection for training, including apprenticeship or participation in the program or 
the receiving of any benefits under the program, Consultant agrees not to 
discriminate nor to allow any subcontractor to discriminate on the basis or race, 
color, creed, religion, natural origin, ancestry, sex, age, marital status or physical 
disability. 

17. Severability 

In the event that any provisions herein contained is held to be invalid, void or 
illegal by any court of competent jurisdiction, the same shall be deemed 
severable from the remainder of this Agreement and shall in no way affect, 
impair or invalidate any other provision contained herein.  If any such provision 
shall be deemed invalid due to its scope or breadth, such provision shall be 
deemed valid to the extent of the scope or breadth permitted by law. 

18. Interpretation 

No provision of this Agreement is to be interpreted for or against either party 
because that party or that party’s legal representative drafted such provision, 
but this Agreement is to be construed as if it were drafted by both parties hereto. 

19. Waiver 

No breach of any provision hereof can be waived unless in writing.  Waiver of 
any one breach of any provision shall not be deemed to be a waiver of any 
other breach of the same of any other provision hereof. 

20. Modifications 

No waiver, modification or termination of this Agreement is valid unless made in 
writing.  This Agreement may be extended and/or expanded by mutual 

Regular City Council Meeting August 22, 2016 82



8 of 10  

agreement, in the form of a written amendment signed by both parties, to 
include additional services that are outside the existing scope of work, attached 
as Exhibit A. 

21. Work Product 

All work product produced by Consultant under this Agreement will be the 
property of the City.  It will be delivered to the City upon City’s demand or at the 
completion of services.  It will not be used by Consultant for purposes other than 
this Agreement without the written consent of the City.  Consultant will not be 
held liable for any re-use of City-owned work product for a purpose other than 
this Agreement. 

22. Termination 

This Agreement may be terminated at any time by either party if there is a 
default of a material obligation which is not cured within thirty (30) days following 
notice from the non-defaulting party.  Effective immediately and without any 
requirement of notice, either party may, at its option, terminate this Agreement 
and/or suspend its performance in the event that (1) the other party files a 
petition in bankruptcy, files a petition seeking any reorganization, arrangement, 
composition, or similar relief under any law regarding insolvency or relief for 
debtors, or makes an assignment for the benefit of creditors; (2) a receiver, 
trustee, or similar officer is appointed for the business or property of such party; 
(3) any involuntary petition or proceeding under bankruptcy or insolvency laws is 
instituted against such party and not stayed, enjoined, or discharged within sixty 
(60) days; (4) inability of Consultant to fulfill its responsibility due to disability or 
death; or (5) the other party adopts a resolution for discontinuance of it business 
or for dissolution.  Except for a termination for cause, neither party shall be liable 
to the other or to any other persons for any loss or damage occasioned by the 
termination of this Agreement as provided herein.   

Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Agreement may be terminated by either 
party by giving written notice at least thirty (30) days prior to the effective 
termination date in the written notice to the other party. 

 

23. Notice 

Notices, herein shall be presented in person, by certified or registered U.S. mail, or 
overnight courier service as follows: 

 To Consultant: ________________________ 

   ________________________ 

   ________________________  

 
City of Mt. Shasta 

305 N. Mt. Shasta Blvd. 
Mt. Shasta, CA 96067 
Attn.: City Manager 

Regular City Council Meeting August 22, 2016 83



9 of 10  

Nothing in this paragraph shall be construed to prevent the giving of notice by 
personal service. 

 
24. Conflict of Interest 
 

Consultant understands that its professional responsibility is solely to CITY.  
Consultant represents that it presently has no interest and will not acquire any 
direct or indirect interest that would conflict with its performance under this 
Agreement.  Consultant shall not in the performance under this Agreement 
employ a person having such an interest. 

25. Entire Agreement 

This Agreement with attachments constitutes the entire understanding and 
agreement of the parties, and supersedes any and all other agreements, either 
oral or in writing, between the parties hereto with respect to the retention of 
Consultant by City and contains all the covenants and agreements between the 
parties with respect to such retention.  Changes or amendments shall be made 
in writing and signed by the parties. 

Regular City Council Meeting August 22, 2016 84



10 of 10  

 
 CONSULTANT      CITY OF MT. SHASTA 
 

 

By:  ________________________     By: ________________________ 
         
Title:  _________________________    Title: City Manager 
 
Dated: _______________________    Dated:________________________  

 
 
ATTEST: 
 
         
By: ______________________  
 Kathy Wilson, 
 City Clerk  

Regular City Council Meeting August 22, 2016 85



EXHIBIT “A” 
 

CITY OF MT. SHASTA 
SCOPE OF WORK 

RATE STUDIES FOR WATER & SEWER ENTERPRISE FUNDS 
 
 

City of Mt. Shasta  1 
Rate Studies for Water & Wastewater Enterprise Funds – Scope of Work 

SCOPE OF WORK 
 
The City of Mt. Shasta desires to perform rate studies for both its water and sewer enterprise 
funds for the purpose of establishing a fair apportionment of costs to its customers.  Below is a 
Scope of Work for performing a water and sewer rate study and includes six (6) workshops with 
a citizen’s committee consisting of two council members and up to three (3) citizens.   Separate 
study reports will be prepared in order to satisfy anticipated funding requirements. 
 
TASK 1 – GATHER INFORMATION AND KICK-OFF MEETING 
 
  Review all background data including the following: 
 

• City’s current water and sewer rate structures, development impact fees, and 
connection fees. 

• Review FY 2014-15 & FY 2015-16 budgets, including any future budgets. Review actual 
versus budgeted numbers. 

• Audited FY 2014-15 financial statement. 
• One year water consumption, by customer. 
• One year of sewer rates, by customer. 

 
Consultant shall attend an initial project coordination meeting with City staff and Committee to 
outline the approach for completing this project, as well as the committee’s goals for the final 
rate study.  At this meeting, discuss the ideas for funding future capital improvements through 
use of utility rates.  For example, will the City desire to accumulate funds to perform 
improvements on their own or will there be allowances built into the rates to make debt service 
payments on future long-term loans to fund future improvements, or will there be a 
combination of both approaches. 
 
TASK 2 – EVALUATE ENTERPRISE FUND FINANCIALS & BUDGETS 
 
Based on the past and future budgets, audited financials, and input from City staff and the 
committee, consultant shall prepare a spreadsheet summary of the City’s current financial 
position based on the City’s current rate structures, utility fees, operation expenses, capital costs, 
revenue streams, reserve funds, and billing systems. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Regular City Council Meeting August 22, 2016 86



EXHIBIT “A” 
 

CITY OF MT. SHASTA 
SCOPE OF WORK 

RATE STUDIES FOR WATER & SEWER ENTERPRISE FUNDS 
 
 

City of Mt. Shasta  2 
Rate Studies for Water & Wastewater Enterprise Funds – Scope of Work 

TASK 3 – EVALUATE CURRENT AND POTENTIAL WATER RATE STRUCTURES 
 
The City has only had individual water meters since October 2015.  Water consumption records 
from that time until Notice to Proceed will be provided for consultant’s use.  Before the rate 
studies are completed, the City will have an entire year of water consumption data, which will 
be conveyed to the consultant.  The Consultant shall utilize an entire year of water 
consumption data before finalizing the rate study recommendations.  Using the City’s historical 
water consumption data, prepare up to three scenarios for future potential revenue 
accumulation based on water rate structures from similar facilities.  Once these draft scenarios 
are completed, meet with City staff and the Committee to discuss and evaluate.  The scenarios 
may by modified based on committee input, but the hope will be that collective agreement can 
be made on one or two scenarios to present in a public workshop. 
Factors that will be considered in developing the rate structure scenarios are as follows: 
 

• How much water and associated charges to include in the base water rate? 
o Consider impacts to low-use water customers if the base rate is too high. 
o Consider differences between residential and commercial customers. 

• Evaluate impacts to revenue streams by modifying the base and variable tiered water 
rates. 

• Consideration of a water rate base charge based on meter size, using a “meter capacity” 
or “meter cost” approach. 

• Consideration of a consumption rate schedule that considers a “uniform” or 
“increasing” tiered rate structure. 

• Implementation of a small set-up fee to cover City costs associated with a change of 
ownership or new service set-up.  

• Provide comparison data of the City’s current and future water rates relative to similar 
agencies throughout northern California. 

• Develop a financing plan to implement capital improvements within the water utility.  The 
existing Master Plan will be used for this purpose, along with input from operations staff. 

• Evaluate strategies for funding O&M, capital reserves, and debt service reserves. 
• Evaluate the City’s growth projections and inflationary adjustments and recommend 

appropriate modifications. 
 
The goal for this effort will be to work closely with staff and the Committee so the final study 
results are meaningful to the City. 
 
TASK 4 – EVALUATE CURRENT AND POTENTIAL SEWER RATE STRUCTURES 
 
Factors that shall be considered in evaluating existing and future user rates are as follows: 
 

Regular City Council Meeting August 22, 2016 87



EXHIBIT “A” 
 

CITY OF MT. SHASTA 
SCOPE OF WORK 

RATE STUDIES FOR WATER & SEWER ENTERPRISE FUNDS 
 
 

City of Mt. Shasta  3 
Rate Studies for Water & Wastewater Enterprise Funds – Scope of Work 

• Single-family residences are typically assigned one household equivalent based on the 
flow from a typical household.  Multi-family, commercial and industrial connections are 
charged based on wintertime water consumption – typically an average of the months, 
January, February and March.  Wintertime water consumption is primarily limited to 
water which is discharged to the sewer.  However, this varies between customers and 
needs to be evaluated on a case-by-case basis.  Also, consideration should be made to 
the fluctuating occupancies of the City’s non-residential customer, i.e. lower hotel 
occupancy rates in the winter, etc. 

• Implementation of a small set-up fee to cover City costs associated with a change of 
ownership or new service set-up.  

• Provide comparison data of the City’s current and future sewer rates relative to similar 
agencies throughout northern California. 

• Develop a financing plan to implement capital improvements within the wastewater 
utility. 

• Evaluate strategies for funding O&M, capital reserves, and debt service reserves. 
• Evaluate the City’s growth projections and inflationary adjustments and recommend 

appropriate modifications. 
 
Similar to the water rates, the goal for this effort will be to work closely with staff and the 
Committee so the final study results are meaningful to the City. 
 
TASK 5 – PUBLIC WORKSHOPS 
 
Consultant shall attend up to six (6) public workshops with the citizens’ Committee throughout 
development of the two studies.  Consultant shall assist the City with preparing applicable 
agendas for each meeting.  PowerPoint or other visual aid tools will be utilized during the 
workshops.  The information will be presented in graphical, as well as tabular form to make it as 
clear as possible to the Committee and attendees.  Public comment and suggestions will be taken 
and noted.  Workshops will be scheduled at roughly one-month intervals or as the Committee 
deems necessary. 
 
 
 
TASK 6 – PREPARE DRAFT RATE STUDY 
 
Based on public comments and subsequent direction from City staff and the Committee, a 
written report for each utility shall be provided to the City for final comment.  Ten (10) copies of 
each draft report will be submitted for review.  Consultant shall incorporate comments in the 
draft and prepare a final report.  The reports will generally contain the following elements: 
 

Regular City Council Meeting August 22, 2016 88



EXHIBIT “A” 

CITY OF MT. SHASTA 
SCOPE OF WORK 

RATE STUDIES FOR WATER & SEWER ENTERPRISE FUNDS 

City of Mt. Shasta 4 
Rate Studies for Water & Wastewater Enterprise Funds – Scope of Work 

• Current and historical utility rates and expenditures
• Utility Rate Development

o Revenue requirements
o Cost of service analysis
o Utility rate design
o Multi-year financial plan guidelines
o Proposed rates
o Proposed non-rate related changes

TASK 7 – CITY COUNCIL PRESENTATION 

Present the Final Rate Studies to the City Council. 

TASK 8 – DELIVERABLES 

Deliverables shall include the following: Number of Copies 

A. Rate Study Reports - Draft 10 each 

B. Rate Study Reports - Final 20 each 

Regular City Council Meeting August 22, 2016 89



Regular City Council Meeting August 22, 2016 90



Regular City Council Meeting August 22, 2016 91



Regular City Council Meeting August 22, 2016 92



Regular City Council Meeting August 22, 2016 93



Regular City Council Meeting August 22, 2016 94



Regular City Council Meeting August 22, 2016 95



Regular City Council Meeting August 22, 2016 96



Regular City Council Meeting August 22, 2016 97



Regular City Council Meeting August 22, 2016 98



Regular City Council Meeting August 22, 2016 99



Regular City Council Meeting August 22, 2016 100



Regular City Council Meeting August 22, 2016 101



Regular City Council Meeting August 22, 2016 102



Regular City Council Meeting August 22, 2016 103



Regular City Council Meeting August 22, 2016 104



Regular City Council Meeting August 22, 2016 105



Regular City Council Meeting August 22, 2016 106



Regular City Council Meeting August 22, 2016 107



Regular City Council Meeting August 22, 2016 108



Regular City Council Meeting August 22, 2016 109



Regular City Council Meeting August 22, 2016 110



Regular City Council Meeting August 22, 2016 111



Regular City Council Meeting August 22, 2016 112



Regular City Council Meeting August 22, 2016 113



Regular City Council Meeting August 22, 2016 114



Regular City Council Meeting August 22, 2016 115



Regular City Council Meeting August 22, 2016 116



Regular City Council Meeting August 22, 2016 117



Regular City Council Meeting August 22, 2016 118



Regular City Council Meeting August 22, 2016 119



Regular City Council Meeting August 22, 2016 120



Regular City Council Meeting August 22, 2016 121



Regular City Council Meeting August 22, 2016 122



Regular City Council Meeting August 22, 2016 123



Regular City Council Meeting August 22, 2016 124


	8.22.16 Agenda
	8.8.2016 Minutes
	FINAL CEDAC Minutes 061416
	July 13 2016 BC - APPROVED Minutes
	Staff Report warrants 82216
	warrant support 82216
	Staff Report monthly investment
	investment support 82216
	Surplus Staff Report
	Surplus Reso and attachment
	Staff Report Recling  8816
	Staff Report Garbage 8816
	CTC Proposal to Cities of Mt. Shasta, Weed, and Dunsmuir - rev 2 - 20150615
	Rate.study.agrmt.2016.SR
	Rate.Study.Agrmt.2016.Reso
	Agreement.Utility.Rate.Study.2016
	RECITAL
	TERMS AND CONDITIONS

	Utility Rate Study Scope of Work
	A. Rate Study Reports - Draft  10 each
	B. Rate Study Reports - Final  20 each

	PACE Statement of Qualifications-Rate Study



